Oil Diffusion in Different Cocoa Butters Using

Magnetic Resonance Imaging

Thesis

Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Master's of Science in the Graduate School of the Ohio State University

By

Hao Wang, B.S.

Graduate Program in Food Science and Technology

The Ohio State University

2016

Thesis Committee:

Farnaz Maleky, Advisor

Pascall Melvin

Simons Christopher

Copyrighted by

Hao Wang

2016

ABSTRACT

In a multi-component chocolate product, oil migration, from high oil content filling into the chocolate is one of the major contributors to quality loss. Five different cocoa butter samples were used to model and study the effects of chemical composition and processing conditions on oil migration. Samples were crystalized under two different processing conditions. Control samples were crystalized under 0 shear rate and 0.5 °C/min cooling rate. Processed samples were crystalized under $250s^{-1}$ shear rate and 4.5 °C/min cooling rate. Crystalized cocoa butter samples were placed in contact with a cream as a source of liquid oil. Using magnetic resonance imaging, the movements of liquid oil into samples were investigated. The sample oil diffusivity was analyzed based on the Fickian diffusion model. Slightly different chemical composition affected cocoa butter's melting point, solid fat content, microstructure, and resulted in different oil migration rate in the samples from five different origins. Additionally, processing conditions significantly retarded the oil migration rate in cocoa butter system. However, identical trends observed in control and processed samples indicated that different processing conditions would not eliminate the effects of chemical composition in cocoa butter on oil migration kinetics. Overall, minor differences in chemical composition of cocoa butters from different origins affect the oil diffusivity. Processing conditions can help slow down the rate of oil migration in cocoa butter system. However, it would not overcome the effects of chemical composition on oil migration kinetics.

Keywords: Oil migration, Chemical composition, Cocoa butter

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First of all, I want to thank my advisor, Dr. Farnaz Maleky for her support and encouragement during these two years in OSU. She is a mentor to me. My sincerest gratitude goes to Dr. Maleky for her academic instructions and guidance for my life.

I would also like to thank Dr. Simons and Dr. Pascall for being my committee members. It is truly a great honor for me to have your advice and help.

Thank Dr. Marangoni's lab in Guelph University, Canada and Dr. Amir Abduljalil at the Department of Radiology, the Ohio State University.

VITA

2014	B.S. in Food Engineering, Sichuan
	University
2014 to present	M.S. in Food Science, Department of
	Food Science and Techology, The Ohio
	State University

Fields of Study

Food Science and Nutrition

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
VITA	V
TABLE OF CONTENT	vi
LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW	5
1.1 Overview of chocolate	5
1.1.1 Consumption of chocolate	5
1.1.2 Chocolate products and ingredients	6
1.2 Cocoa butter	7
1.2.1. Chemical composition	7
1.2.2. Origins of cocoa butter	8

1.2.3. Structure	11
1.3 Oil migration	15
1.3.1 Fat blooming and oil migration	15
1.3.2 Factors affecting oil migration	16
1.3.3 Measurement	
1.3.4 Mechanism	19
CHAPTER 2. MATERIAL AND METHOD	22
2.1. Material	22
2.2. Sample preparation	22
2.3. Method	24
2.3.1. Fatty acid composition evaluation	24
2.3.2. Triacylglyceride Composition	25
2.3.3. Solid Fat Content measurement	26
2.3.4. Polymorphic phase analysis	26
2.3.5. Melting profile analysis	26
2.3.6. Microstructure analysis	27
2.3.7. Magnetic Resonance Imaging measurement	
2.4. Statistical analysis	31
CHAPTER 3. RESULT AND DISCUSSION	32

	3.1. Result and discussion for different properties of crystallized cocoa	
butter.		32
	3.1.1. Fatty acid evaluation	32
	3.1.2. Triacylglyceride Composition	34
	3.1.3. Solid fat content study	37
	3.1.4 Polymorphic phase	42
	3.1.5. Melting point	44
	3.1.6. Microstructure investigation	46
	3.2. Result for oil migration experiment and relative discussion	51
	3.2.1. Control samples	51
	3.2.2. Processed samples	62
	3.2.3. Comparison of control and processed samples	65
C	CHAPTER 4. CONCLUSION	76
L	JST OF REFERENCES	78

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Triacylglycerol profile and free fatty acid content of cocoa butters
from different origins10
Table 2. Fatty acid composition of the Cocoa butter from Ivory Coast (IVC),
Indonesia (IND), Brazil (BRZ), Venezuela (VEN), and Ecuador (ECU)33
Table 3. Triacylglyceride (TAG) composition, Phosphorous, and Free fatty
acid content of the Cocoa butter from Ivory Coast (IVC), Indonesia (IND), Brazil
(BRZ), Venezuela (VEN), and Ecuador (ECU)
Table 4. Solid Fat Content (SFC) of cocoa butter samples from different
origins under different processing conditions
Table 5. Mean crystal diameter (a) of crystalized cocoa butters
Table 6. Slope change in mass transfer curves (oil uptake as a function of time)
of control samples
Table 7. Effective diffusion coefficient ($Deff(m2s - 1)$), Tortuosity (τ), and
Permeability coefficient (B) of oil in different cocoa butters

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Top 20 chocolate consuming nations in 2014 and their distribution.
(Source: Annual Statistic Report from Confectionernews.com)
Figure 2. Production of cocoa beans (thousand tons) in year 2014-2015
(source: annual statistic report from ICCO)9
Figure 3. Structural hierarchy in a fat crystal network from molecules to
material (Marangoni, 2010)12
Figure 4. a) Structure of triglycerides; b) Double-chain length packing
configuration; c) Triple-chain length packing configuration (Marangoni & Wesdorp,
2013)
Figure 5. The arrangement of TAG chains for α , β' and β polymorphs of cocoa
butters14
Figure 6. Sample mold setup for the MRI experiment (The upper part of mold
was the cocoa butter mixtures from different origins with different processing; the
bottom part was filled with 30 grams of the cream)
Figure 7. Representative MRI images for the sample with bad contact24
Figure 8. Representative MRI image for the sample scanned at day 0 (a), day
14 (b) and day 134 (c) of storage at 23 °C

Figure 9. a) Representative 1-D Signal intensity profile of the sample in
vertical direction from top (cocoa butter) to bottom (cream); b) 1-D Signal intensity
profile of the sample over time
Figure 10. Solid fat content (SFC) of control and processed cocoa butter
samples
Figure 11. X-ray diffraction (XRD) patterns of cocoa butters (CB) crystallized
at 23 $^\circ$ C for 24 h with the static (a) and sheared (b) conditions42
Figure 12. DSC heating curve of control (a) and processed (b) cocoa butter
samples
Figure 13. Melting points for static and sheared cocoa butter samples45
Figure 14. PLM micrographs for control and processed cocoa butter samples
Figure 15. a) Representation of frequency distribution of particle diameter and
mean crystal diameter (marked with arrow) c)-f) Particle diameter distribution of
control and processed cocoa butter sample from Ivory Coast (IVC), Indonesia (IND),
Brazil (BRZ), Venezuela (VEN), and Ecuador (ECU), respectively49
Figure 16. a) Oil uptakes curve for one representative samples; b) Oil uptakes
(in arbitrary unit) over experimental period of control samples from IVC, IND, VEN
and ECU53
Figure 17. Curve fitting for control samples in algebraic expression $Mt =$
$M_{\infty}(1 - e^{-bt})$
Figure 18. Maximum oil uptake for the control samples from different origins

Figure 19. Oil migration rate for the control samples from different origins.58
Figure 20. Oil uptakes (in arbitrary unit) over experimental period of
processed samples from IVC, IND, BRZ, VEN and ECU62
Figure 21. Maximum oil uptake for the processed samples from different
origins over 134 days63
Figure 22. Oil migration rate for the processed samples from different origins
64
Figure 23. Comparison of Oil migration rate for the control and processed
samples from different origins
Figure 24. Comparison of effective diffusion coefficient, D_{eff} for the control
and processed samples from different origins (Peppas model)68
Figure 25. Comparison of effective diffusion coefficient for the control and
processed samples from different origins (Zigeler model)70

INTRODUCTION

Oil migration is a major issue in confectionery products and can cause a decrease in the product's quality. For example, fat bloom as a result of oil migration, leads to quality reduction and has negative effects on sensory properties of chocolate products. Cocoa butter, a porous fat material, is one of the main ingredients in chocolate and provides the texture and structure of the products. Several studies have related oil diffusivity to different properties of cocoa butter (Maleky et al., 2012; Marty et al., 2005; Sonwai & Mackley, 2006). Studies have also shown that many factors can affect oil diffusivity in cocoa butter systems. These include factors such as formulation, processing conditions, and storage temperature (Clercq et al., 2014; Maleky et al., 2012; Maleky & Marangoni, 2011; Maleky et al., 2011; McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008; Svanberg et al., 2011). The formulation of confectionary fat significantly impacts the rate of oil migration in cocoa butter by changing the solid fat content (McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008) and structure of the fat network (Svanberg et al., 2011). Additionally, studies have shown that processing conditions can influence the oil diffusivity because changes to the structure of the fat network can occur (Acevedo et al., 2012; Hachiya et al., 1989; Maleky et al., 2012; Maleky & Marangoni, 2008; Maleky et al., 2011; Mazzanti et al., 2011; Sato, 2001; Sonwai & Mackley, 2006; Stapley et al., 1999; Svanberg et al., 2013; Svanberg et al., 2011). Maleky (2011)

and Sonwai (2006) showed the crystal micrographs of cocoa butter samples crystallized with and without shearing and pointed out that shearing was associated with the formation of small and homogeneous particles. Shearing resulted in a lower oil migration rate (Maleky & Marangoni, 2011; Maleky et al., 2012). Moreover, storage temperature is another factor that affects oil migration rate in cocoa butter systems (Depypere et al., 2009; Khan & Rousseau, 2006; McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008; Miquel et al., 2001). Khan studied the effects of three storage temperatures (11°C, 20°C, 26°C) on migration kinetics of oil and showed that oil migration in fat network would be accelerated at higher storage temperatures (Khan & Rousseau, 2006).

However, the effects from the differences in chemical characteristics of cocoa butter on oil diffusivity are still unclear. Cocoa butter from different origins are shown to have different chemical compositions due to environmental growth conditions and harvest treatments in different regions (Dimick, 1989; Marty & Marangoni, 2009).

Marty and Marangoni studied the effects of cocoa butter origins on oil migration kinetics using the Scanner Imaging Technique (Marty & Marangoni, 2009). A lipid soluble dye (Nile Red Stain) was used as a tracker for the a Scanner Imaging Technique. A flatbed scanner and image analysis software were used to monitor the movement of the dye and to quantify migration of the oil through the confectionary fats. They hypothesized that the dye had the same migration rate as the oil and this was comfirmed by Marty (Marty et al., 2005; Marty et al., 2009). Moreover, they also pointed out that the distance travelled by the oil had a linear corelation with the square root of time, which was then used to quantify the oil migration rate. Marty and Marangoni also investigated the oil migration kinetics of cocoa butter from six different origins (Brazil, China, Ecuador, Ivory Coast, Malaysia and Nigeria) (Marty & Marangoni, 2009). They showed that cocoa butter origins had a strong effect on the oil migration rate. Brazilian and Nigerian samples had the highest oil migration rate and Malaysian cocoa butters exhibited the third highiest rate. In the meantime, the lowest oil migration rates were found in the cocoa butter samples from China, Ecuador, and Ivory Coast. They also pointed out that the amount of oleic acid and triunsaturated triglycerides exerted great influence on the oil migration rate in cocoa butter systems. Moreover, in this study, they also examined the effects of tempering on the oil migration rate. The results showed that the rate of oil migration in tempered samples were 10 to 50 times lower than those in nontempered cocoa butter samples. Overall, Marty and Maragoni demonstrated the different oil migration rates in cocoa butter from different origins using the scanner imaging technique (Marty & Marangoni, 2009).

In our study, five cocoa butters from different origins were investigated as well but using Magenetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) technique. This MRI technique was shown to be a novel and reliable method to examine threedimensional oil distribution within confectionary fat (Choi, McCarthy, & McCarthy, 2005; Maleky, Mccarthy, et al., 2012; Rumsey & McCarthy, 2012). This technique quantifies the migration of oil by measuring changes in the solid fat content and by mornitoring the movement of liquid oil (Thierry et al., 1997). One of the advantages of MRI is the visualization of the migration process. Therefore, with this method scientists are able to monitor the migration process in a single sample at different time points and this reduces experimental errors by eliminating sample to sample variation (Thierry et al., 1997).

To understand the behaviors of oil in migration and diffusion mechanism in chocolate systems, the movement of oil needs to be monitored accurately and the diffusional behaviors should be studied. A MRI technique was used in this study to percisely monitor the movement of oil and comprehensive analyse were conducted to quantify the oil migration. The objective of this study is to investigate the effects of minor differences in the chemical composition of cocoa butter on the kinetics of oil diffusivity. In addition, we also aimed to examine the effects of processing conditions on oil migration rate and study the influence of processing conditions on the effects of chemical composition.

CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Overview of chocolate

1.1.1 Consumption of chocolate

Chocolate is one of the most popular food products throughout the world. In the per capita consumption report in 2014 (Nieburg, 2014), Switzerland was the nation with the top consumption of 9.0 kg/person, followed by the Germany and Austria with 7.9 kg/person and 7.8 kg/person, respectively. The United States, with a chocolate consumption of 4.3 kg/person, is one of the top 20 chocolate consuming nations in the world (Nieburg, 2014). Chocolate is popular not only because it provides energy and healthy flavonoids, but also offers pure pleasure.



Figure 1. Top 20 chocolate consuming nations in 2014 and their distribution. (Source: Annual Statistic Report from Confectionernews.com)

The pleasure comes from the attractive flavor of cocoa powder and satisfying smooth melted taste of cocoa butter. In order to have a better quality of chocolate with a longer shelf life, scientists devote themselves to the studies of chocolate properties and preventing or slowing down the loss of quality (Altan et al., 2011; Maleky et al., 2012; Marty & Marangoni, 2009; McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008; Ziegler, 2009).

1.1.2 Chocolate products and ingredients

Chocolate can nominally be divided into three kinds: dark chocolate, milk chocolate, and white chocolate (Beckett, 2000). The ingredients for confectionery chocolate include cocoa butter, cocoa liquor, cocoa powder, sugar, emulsifier and milk powder (Geoff Talbot, 2012b). Cocoa butter is the major fat ingredient and is used to both provide the structure and optimize the rheological properties for the chocolate (Wells, 2009).

Besides pure chocolate products, there are many multi-component chocolate products such as enrobed and filled chocolate products (Geoff Talbot & Consultant, 2003). Multi-component confectionery products with a chocolate coating are not new. One of the reasons for its popularity is the continual consumer demand for new taste and textural sensations. Enrobing chocolate is an edible product that is then covered with a chocolate coating (G Talbot, 2009). Typical examples are coated biscuits, coated ice cream bars, coated cakes, coated fruits, and nuts. Filled chocolate is usually achieved by first making a shell of chocolate and then filling the shell with other products such as wine and cream(Birkett & S, 2003). Nuts and cream, which are rich in oil, are popularly used as ingredients in multi-component chocolate products (Yates, 2009).

1.2 Cocoa butter

1.2.1. Chemical composition

Fatty acid and Triacylglycerols composition

The main fatty acid compounds in cocoa butter are palmitic acid (C16:0), stearic acid (C18:0), and oleic acid (C18:1) (Beckett, 2000; Geoff Talbot, 2012b). There are also small amounts of arachidic acid (C20:0), linoleic acid (C18:2), palmitoleic acid (C16:1), and other fatty acids (Beckett, 2000). Timms and Stewart determined the fatty acid compositions of 140 cocoa butters from different origins. The content of palmitic acid, stearic acid, and oleic acid are about 26.9 %, 36.6% and 31.7%, respectively (Timms & Stewart, 1999).

Cocoa butter is a complex mixture of fatty acids esterified onto a glycerol skeleton to form triacylglycerols (TAG). Most of the triglycerides in cocoa butter are symmetrical. The fatty acid compositions are very simple in cocoa butter, which result in an equally simple triglyceride compositions with mainly 1,3-dipalmitoyl-2-oleoyl-glycerol (POP), 1-palmitoyl-2- oleoyl-3-estearoyl-glycerol (POSt), and 1,3-diestearoil-2-oleoyl-glycerol (StOSt) (Beckett, 2000; Geoff Talbot, 2012a). Chaiseri and Dimick studied the TAGs content of different sources of cocoa butters and reported the average contents of POP, POSt, and StOSt at around 20%, 40%, and 27%, respectively (Chaiseri & Dimick, 1989).

Free Fatty Acids

Cocoa butter typically has a maximum specified free fatty acid level of 1.75% (Folayan, 2010; Timms & Stewart, 1999). Twenty cocoa butter samples were analyzed

by Foubert et al. (2004). They found that the samples cocoa butter had an average free fatty acid level (oleic acid) at about 1.71% (SD 0.41) and also pointed out that when the free fatty acid level was larger than 1.75% samples showed unexpected problems during crystallization.

Phospholipids

Phospholipids are one the minor compounds in cocoa butter. The content of phospholipids in cocoa butter is quantified by the level of phosphorus (Talbot, 2012a). Foubert et al. determined that the phosphorus levels from 2.3 ppm up to 63 ppm equaled to a phospholipid range of 0.006% up to 0.16% (Foubert and Vanrolleghem, 2004). Dimick and Davis reported 0.0037% phospholipids in the whole cocoa butter and pointed out the positive effects of phospholipid on cocoa butter solidification (Dimick, 1989). Foubert (2004) and Marty (2009) illustrated that phosphorus content of cocoa butter was positively correlated to nucleation induction time.

1.2.2. Origins of cocoa butter

Cocoa butter is one of the derivative products from cocoa beans, the seed of the cocoa tree. Cocoa trees prefer to grow in countries near the equator, such as Ivory Coast, Ghana, and Nigeria (Beckett, 2000). The production of cocoa beans by country in 2014/2015 is shown in Figure 2 (ICCO, 2015).



Figure 2. Production of cocoa beans (thousand tons) in year 2014-2015 (source: annual statistic report from ICCO)

Studies have shown that chemical composition varies on both major and minor components of cocoa butter from different origins. TAG compositions of cocoa butter from 20 countries were summarized in Table 1, according to previous studies (Dimick, 1989; Marty & Marangoni, 2009).

221	1. Built Table 1		8.5.1								
2		Triacylglycerol (%)								Froe fatty acid	
	Cocoa butter origin	PLiP	P00	PLiS	POP	S00	SLiS	POS	SOS	SOA	in % oleic acid*
	Bolivia	1.1	3.3	3.5	22.6	4	2.1	40.4	22.8	0.5	0.84 (1)
	Brazil	0.9	3.9	3.7	17.9	6.7	3.2	37.1	26	0.04	0.91 ± 0.05 (4)
	Colombia	1.1	3.3	3.6	20.4	4.4	2.3	39.4	25	0.6	1.07 ± 0.29 (2)
	Ecuador	1.2	3	3.2	19.2	5.4	2.3	38.4	26.9	0.4	1.42 ± 0.73 (2)
Central	Peru	1.5	4.3	3.9	18.3	7.4	3.7	35.8	24.6	0.4	3.11 (1)
and South America	Venezuela	0.9	1	3.1	20.4	2.8	1.9	40.4	28.8	0.8	n.a.
	Costa Rica	1	2.6	3.5	17.8	5.5	3	38.7	27.4	0.4	0.72 (1)
	Dominican Republic	1.1	3.3	3.2	18.4	6.1	2.7	38.2	26.5	0.6	0.88 ± 0.01 (2)
	Guatemala	1	2.3	3.4	19.3	4.9	2.2	39	27.5	0.4	n.a.
	Mexico	1.1	2.4	3.5	19.1	4.1	3	38.8	27.8	0.6	0.42 (1)
	Panama	1	1.5	3	19.1	3.1	2.7	41.4	27.3	0.8	1.07 (1)
Africa	Cameroon	1	3	3.4	17.9	5.8	2.5	38.3	27.7	0.5	n.a.
	Gabon	0.9	3.7	3.5	17.5	7.3	3	37.1	26.5	0.4	n.a.
	Ghana	1.2	2.2	3.4	17.8	4.9	2.2	39	27.5	0.4	n.a.
	Ivory Coast	1	1.9	3	19	3.9	2.5	39.6	28.5	0.6	1.36 ± 0.18 (5)
	Nigeria	1	2.3	3.6	17.9	5.2	3	38.8	27.8	0.5	1.21 (1)
	Indonesia	1.1	1.6	3	19.9	3.6	1.7	40.6	28.1	0.5	n.a.
Oceania	Malaysia	0.7	1.2	2.8	18.4	2.9	2.2	40	31.1	0.8	1.44 ± 0.42 (3)
	Solomon Island	1	0.9	3	19.3	2.8	2	40.7	29.5	0.7	n.a.

Table 1 Triacylglycerol profile and free fatty acid content of cocoa butters from different origins

n.a.: data not available

*Number in brackets indicates the number of sample analyzed to determine the free fatty acid content of the corresponding cocoa butter. Adapted from Chaiseri & Dimick, 1989.

The differences in chemical composition of the cocoa butter samples from different origins are affected by environmental variables, harvesting conventions, and post-harvest treatments (Beckett, 2000; Marty & Marangoni, 2009).

The environmental growth conditions, including temperature, humidity, soil conditions, and sunshine, are varying in different geographic regions (Dimick, 1989; Lehrian et al., 1980; Lehrian & Keeney, 1980; Marty & Marangoni, 2009; Wright et al., 1982). Lehrian et al. documented that cocoa tree growth in areas with higher temperature

had larger amounts of palmitic acid, stearic acid, and mono-unsaturated TAGs in cocoa butter (Lehrian et al., 1980; Lehrian & Keeney, 1980). Dimick studied the cocoa butter from different origins and discovered that the hardness of cocoa butter was affected by the temperature variation in different regions (Dimick, 1989). Moreover, harvest conventions, including cocoa harvest period, cocoa tree type, and cocoa pod maturation, can affect the chemical compositions of cocoa butter. For example, Lehrian (1980) and Wright (1982) showed that lipid compositions of cocoa beans were different when harvested on different maturity level of the respective cocoa pods.

Different regions have their special post-harvest treatments which affect cocoa butter chemical components. The post-harvest treatments include different processing conditions in fermentation and drying. Even though there is no significant effect on the contents of free fatty acid (FFA), DAGs, and TAGs by roasting, Marty suggested that fermentation might have influence on the amount of FFA and type of phospholipids (Marty & Marangoni, 2009).

Overall, considering climate, pre-, and post-harvest treatments, there are many variables that impact the chemical composition of cocoa butter in different origins.

1.2.3. Structure

Cocoa butter, as a fat material, can be crystallized in a number of different structures. It is important to understand the structural organization present in cocoa butter, because it can guide the development of specific properties desired and demanded in confectionary products. A structural hierarchy of fat crystal networks as understood from current knowledge (Deman & Beers, 1987; Heertje, 1993; Marangoni, 2012; Tempel,

1961) is shown in Figure 3. Figure 3 shows the structure of edible fats from TAG molecules to macroscopic structures.



Figure 3. Structural hierarchy in a fat crystal network --- from molecules to material (Marangoni, 2010)

TAG molecules in cocoa butter consist of a glycerol backbone with three fatty acids esterified to the three fatty acid at specific locations referred to as sn-1, sn-2, and sn-3 (Beckett, 2000; Marangoni & Wesdorp, 2013), as seen in Figure 4a. In cocoa butter, 80% of the TAGs are symmetrical mono-unsaturated with oleic acid at sn-2 position. The fatty acid in the sn-2 position always comes off the glycerol backbone on the opposite side to the other two fatty acids; there is not enough space for three fatty acid chains to be on the same side of the glycerol backbone. The TAGs pack in a 'chair' or 'tuning fork'

structure under different ways: double-chain length packing (Fig. 4b) and triple-chain length packing (Fig. 4c) (Beckett, 2000; Geoff Talbot, 2012b).



Figure 4. a) Structure of triglycerides; b) Double-chain length packing configuration; c) Triple-chain length packing configuration (Marangoni & Wesdorp, 2013)

In double-chain length packing, the fatty acid in the sn-2 position of one triglyceride molecule is adjacent to fatty acids in the sn-1 or sn-3 positions of the next triglyceride molecule. In many fats, this is a very stable structure but not in cocoa butter. This is because the oleic acid in the sn-2 position is a *cis*-monounsaturated fatty acid and

has a bend in the middle of the fatty acid chain. The bends next to the straight chain will loosen the structure. Alternatively, in the triple-chain structure, the unsaturated fatty acids (oleic acid) in the sn-2 position lie next to each other and the bends fit together. This gives a much more stable configuration of the network (Marangoni et al., 2012; Talbot, 2012a).

As well as crystallizing in a particular chain length configuration, cocoa butter can crystallize in a variety of different polymorphic forms. The basic polymorphic forms are called alpha (α), beta-prime (β'), and beta (β) (Beckett, 2000). The arrangement of TAG chains for α , β' , and β polymorphs of cocoa butters are shown in Figure 5. In cocoa butter, α and β' polymorphic forms are double chain packing, while β polymorphic phase is triple chain packing. Form α with the chains stacked straight up is more unstable compared to β' polymorphic phase. On the other hand, the triple-chain packing in β form provides a more stable structure compare to the other two polymorphs.



Figure 5. The arrangement of TAG chains for α , β' and β polymorphs of cocoa butters

However, cocoa butter can crystallize in more than these three basic forms. For many years there were considered to be six polymorphic forms of cocoa butter. This was based on work done by Wille and Lutton (1966b) and Larsson (1966). Wille and Lutton gave the six polymorphic forms the number I through VI (Wille & Lutton, 1966b).Polymorphism α is easier to be formed than β' and β because it has the lowest energy required. Aging causes a change in the polymorphism form and it is always in the direction of $\alpha - \beta' - \beta$ (Aronhime et al., 1988; Wille & Lutton, 1966a). Cocoa butter is a beta-stable fat. There are two types of β form which are β_V and β_{VI} . β_V is the desired polymorphic phase, while β_{VI} can be transformed from β_V , and responds for fat blooming (James & Smith, 2009; Wille & Lutton, 1966b).

1.3 Oil migration

1.3.1 Fat blooming and oil migration

Chocolate is the combination of fat and not-fat ingredients. Chocolate products melt smoothly in the mouth and release pleasant tastes and aroma when they are produced and stored under appropriate conditions. During storage, chemical interactions or physical changes can result in an unwanted quality of chocolate. There are many factors that can cause quality loss, including lipid oxidation, moisture migration, and fat blooming (Ghosh et al., 2002; Kinta & Hatta, 2012; Minifie, 2012; Subramaniam, 2009; Talbot, 2003; Ziegler, 2009).

Fat blooming, studied in this work, is one of the major reasons of chocolate quality deterioration. When chocolate is produced under the appropriate conditions, both

sugar and fat are present in fine texture and are dispersed uniformly at the macroscopic level. Bloom is a condition in which the fine texture of sugar and fat crystals is lost and the chocolate becomes non-uniform (Kinta & Hatta, 2012). The shelf life of enrobed and filled chocolate is often limited by the changes in the fat crystal network. The transport of foreign oils into chocolate products has influence on accelerating fat blooming (Ziegler, 2009).Therefore, in order to slow down or prevent fat blooming in chocolate products, studies are needed to understand its mechanism.

Migration of oil is the movement of liquid from the side with higher concentration of oil to the side with lower concentration of oil. Previous studies showed that the rate of oil transporting in cocoa butter system is affected by the formulations, composition of cocoa butter, processing conditions, structure of fat network, and storage conditions (Clercq et al., 2014; Maleky, et al., 2012; Maleky & Marangoni, 2011; Maleky et al., 2011; McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008; Svanberg et al., 2011).

1.3.2 Factors affecting oil migration

1.3.2.1 Formulation

Different formulations of chocolate and different chemical compositions of cocoa butter can affect the compound interaction and fat crystallization within the system (Lee et al., 2010; Marty & Marangoni, 2009; McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008; Motwani et al., 2011). Sugar, milk fat, and emulsifier are ingredients besides cocoa butter that showed great influence on oil migration kinetics (McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008; McClements & Demetriades, 1998; Svanberg et al., 2011; Vernier, 1997). As for chemical composition, Clercq et al. studied the influence of cocoa butter diacylglycerols (DAGs) on migration and pointed out that the presence of DAGs did not delay oil migration nor prevented the appearance of migration induced fat bloom (Clercq et al., 2014). Marty et al. documented the significant effects of oleic acid and tri-unsaturated TAGs on oil diffusivity in cocoa butter system (Marty & Marangoni, 2009).

1.3.2.2 Processing condition

With different processing conditions, chocolate or cocoa butter can vary in rheology properties and fat structures, which results in different viable shelf lives. Studies showed that appropriate processing conditions, such as tempering, shearing, and seeding, could successfully retard oil migration (Dhonsi & Stapley, 2006; Kinta & Hartel, 2010; Maleky & Marangoni, 2011; Marty & Marangoni, 2009; Richter & Sollich, 2009). For example, Maleky and Marangoni found that the structure of cocoa butter crystallized under shearing conditions creates a narrow and circuitous path for liquid oil, which reduces the rate and amount of oil migration in cocoa butter (Maleky & Marangoni, 2011).

Overall, better management of processing conditions during manufacturing can help the formation of better structures in cocoa butter for preventing quality loss in chocolate products (Marty & Marangoni, 2009; Sonwai & Mackley, 2006).

1.3.2.3 Storage temperature

An appropriate storage temperature is important to product quality. The storage temperature can affect the liquid fraction in the crystallized cocoa butter system. Many studies have shown significant effects of storage temperature on oil migration (Ali et al., 2001; Jinap et ak., 2000; Khan & Rousseau, 2006; McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008; Miquel

et al., 2001; Vernier, 1997; Ziegleder & Moser, 1996). The most common storage temperature for cocoa butter is around 18°C-23°C. In most of the studies, the analyzed temperatures ranged from 18°C-35°C in order to investigate the acceleration of oil migration in higher storage temperature (Guiheneuf et al., 1997; Jinap et al., 2000; Miquel et al., 2001). However, some studies worked on the impact of low temperature on oil diffusivity (Khan & Rousseau, 2006; Ziegleder & Moser, 1996) and showed that low temperature could effectively prevent or slow down oil migration.

1.3.3 Measurement

In order to study the mechanism of oil migration in fat systems, accurate measurements for migrated oil is needed. Many methods have been developed to monitor the migration of oil, including chromatographic techniques, scanner imaging techniques (dyes-tracker method), and Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) measurement. In this study, Magnetic Resonance Imaging technique is utilized.

MRI is one of the applications of magnetic energy. It is widely used in medical treatment for human brain. Moreover, MRI can be also considered as a semi-quantitative technique to monitor and observe the oil migration in same sample by time (Choi et al., 2005; Maleky et al., 2012; Rumsey & McCarthy, 2012). Conventional spin-echo MRI is recognized as an indirect means to measure. Under the magnetic field, the signal of H^1 protons are very short in solid cocoa butter fat because the spin-echo relaxation is strongly enhanced by slow rotational motion of TAG molecules(Guiheneuf et al., 1997). MRI provides a reliable way to non-destructively measure oil migration and to track the real-time movement of oil with reduced variation (Guiheneuf et al., 1997).

MRI has been successfully used in many studies to accurately monitor the oil movement in fat systems (Choi et al., 2005; Guiheneuf et al., 1997; Lee et al., 2010; Maleky et al., 2012; McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008; Rumsey & McCarthy, 2012). For example, the oil migration between a layer of hazelnut oil filling and a layer of dark chocolate was investigated using MRI by Guiheneuf et. al. (1997). They observed substantial differences of migration between the storage conditions of 19 °C and 28°C. Paluri and others pointed out that MRI can be used to analyze the moisture uptake in lipid based products (Paluri et al., 2015). Rumsey (2012) and Choi (2005) reported a reasonably good agreement between the Fickian mathematic model curves and MRI experimental data. McCarthy and others studied the diffusivity of oil from peanut butter paste to the chocolate with different formulations and documented the significant impact of chocolate formulations (McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008).

Thus, MRI is a non-distortive and accurate technique that can monitor oil migration of samples over time. It's also the method used in this study.

1.3.4 Mechanism

Migration of oil in chocolate products can be considered as a diffusive process of oil among multiple layers (Maleky et al., 2012). A diffusive process is the movement of molecules from a region of high chemical potential (high concentration) to a region of low chemical potential (low concentration) (Crank, 1975). Oil diffusion is driven by the TAGs concentration gradient between two phases (Clercq et al., 2014; Ghosh et al., 2002; Ziegler, 2009). Fick's second law is a partial differential equation, describing how diffusion causes the concentration to change with time:

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t} = D \frac{\partial^2 C}{\partial x^2} \tag{1.1}$$

where C is the foreign oil content in the case of oil migration and D is the diffusion coefficient. This partial differential equation (eq. 1.1) is subject to appropriate initial and boundary conditions for diffusion into a fat layer. With the appropriate initial conditions and boundary conditions offered by Peppas (1994) in a similar situation (binary mixture), the ratio of oil uptake and the uptake as time approaches infinity could be approximated to the following Fickian model:

$$\frac{M_{t}}{M_{\infty}} = 1 - \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \frac{8}{(2q+1)^{2} \times \pi^{2}} \exp\left[\frac{-D(2q+1)^{2} \times \pi^{2}}{l^{2}}t\right]$$
(1.2)

where M_t is defined as the oil uptake at time t and M_{∞} is the maximum oil uptake after the migration reaches equilibrium, t (seconds) is time, D_{eff} (m²s⁻¹) is the effective diffusion coefficient among the migration behavior, and 1 (m²) is the thickness in migrated media where oil migration took place.

Ziegleder proposed another Fickian approximate equation that describes the oil migration in chocolate system (1998):

$$\frac{M_{t}}{M_{\infty}} = \frac{KA\sqrt{D_{eff}t}}{V}$$
(1.3)

where M_t and M_{∞} are mass migrated at time t and at saturation respectively. A (m²) is the contact area between two phases while V (m³) represents the volume through which the diffusion takes place; t is the migration time (seconds). D_{eff} (m²s⁻¹) is the effective diffusion coefficient among the migration behavior. K is a constant specific to two phases. Both Fickian diffusion models were successfully utilized to understand this 2-way diffusive process in fat systems (Choi et al., 2005; Clercq et al., 2014; Galdámez et al., 2009; Ghosh et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2010; Maleky & Marangoni, 2011; Maleky et al., 2012; Marty & Marangoni, 2009; McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008; Peppas & Brannon-Peppas, 1994; Rumsey & McCarthy, 2012).

CHAPTER 2. MATERIAL AND METHOD

2.1. Material

Five different cocoa butter samples from five different origins (Ivory Coast (IVC), Indonesia (IND), Brazil (BRZ), Venezuela (VEN), and Ecuador (ECU)) were donated by ADM Cocoa (Milwaukee, WI, USA) and Mars Chocolate (Hackettstown, New Jersey, USA). Interesterified hydrogenated palm oil (IHPO) was donated by Bunge Canada (Toronto, Canada). Peanut oil was purchased from a local retailer.

2.2. Sample preparation

Cocoa butter samples were prepared in triplicate through two processing conditions: static crystallization (control, marked as C) and processed crystallization (mixture of shearing and different cooling rate were applied, marked as P). Samples were heated to 70 °C first for 10 min and held at 65 °C for 45 min until completely melted in order to destroy crystal memory. For the control samples, the molten cocoa butter at 65 °C were transferred to a plastic mold with a dimension of 30 mm x 30 mm x 30 mm. Samples were stored at 23 °C for 24 h to complete the crystallization. For processed samples, the molten cocoa butter was sheared by a 3-blade propeller (with a radius of 39 mm) at a shear rate of $250 \ s^{-1}$. While shearing, an iso-temperature water bath was used to control the sample temperature at 23 °C. After 10 minutes of shearing, samples were transferred to the plastic mold and stored at 23 °C for 24 h.

A soft fat layer (acting as the source of liquid oil for the oil migration experiment) was prepared by blending peanut oil and IHPO at the ratio of 60:40 w/w (S Marty et al., 2005). The cream was prepared five days prior and was stored in a 5 °C incubator (MIR-154 Panasonic, Gunma, Japan).

In the oil migration experiment, a two-layer model (shown in Figure 6), with crystallized cocoa butter on the top and cream at the bottom was used to mimic the multiple-compound chocolate product. Care was taken to ensure that the surface of cocoa butter and cream was flat. Intimate contacts were obtained at the interface between cocoa butter layer and the cream layer. 2-layer samples were visualized under Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) and intimate contracts were examined. Samples with bad contact (shown in Figure 7) were removed. Oil migration was monitored at the interface of this two-layer model.



Figure 6. Sample mold setup for the MRI experiment (The upper part of mold was the cocoa butter mixtures from different origins with different processing; the bottom part was filled with 30 grams of the cream)


Figure 7. Representative MRI images for the sample with bad contact

2.3. Method

2.3.1. Fatty acid composition evaluation

The fatty acid profile of cream and five different cocoa butter samples were determined by an Agilent 6890-series Gas Chromatograph (Agilent Technologies, Inc., Wilmington, DE, USA) with 7683-series auto-sampler. Fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) were obtained according to a method described by Christie (1982). An amount of 20 mg of the fat (cocoa butter) were weighed and transferred into vials. Samples were mixed with sodium-dried diethyl ether and methyl acetate until it was completely dissolved. Then 1 M sodium methoxide in dry methanol was added to the mix. After 5 minutes, a saturated solution of oxalic acid in diethyl ether was added and then samples were centrifuged at about 1500 g for 2 minutes. The supernatants were transferred to a 1.5 ml Agilent vial. Nitrogen was used to gently evaporate the solvent. At the end, 1 ml of

hexane was added to the material left in the vial. An Agilent 6890 GC (Agilent Technologies Inc., Santa Clara, CA) was used with a split injection, a flame ionization detector (FID), auto sampler (Agilent, model 7683), and BPX70 column which has 60 m x 0.22 mm internal diameter with 0.25 μ m film thickness (SGE Inc., Austin, TX, USA). Oven temperature was programmed to increase from 110 to 230 °C at a rate of 4 °C/min and maintained at 230 °C for 18 min. The injector was operated at 20.2 psi flow of 17.7 ml/min at a temperature of 250 °C. Helium was used as a carrier gas at an average velocity of 25 cm/s. The FAMEs were identified based on their retention times in comparison with fatty acid methyl ester standards purchased from Sigma Aldrich.

2.3.2. Triacylglyceride Composition

The triacylglyceride composition of cocoa butter was determined by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) using a Waters Alliance model 2690 (Waters Millipore Co., Milford, MA) with refractive index detector (Waters model 2410). The columns were Waters xbridge C18 (5 µm, 4.6 X 250 mm).

An amount of 30 mg fat was first dissolved in 600 μ l of chloroform followed by 1.5 ml of 60/40 acetone/acetonitrile v/v. 10 μ l of the sample was injected at once. The temperature for the sample chamber, column, and detector was set at 40 °C. Measurement was taken under isocratic flow rate at 1 ml/min with the mobile phase of acetone/acetonitrile at the ratio of 60/40 v/v.

The assignment of TAG peaks and their concentrations in cocoa butter were determined by the retention time of TAG standards from Sigma (Sigma Chemical Co., St.

Louis, MO) and both data collection and peak integration was performed with the Millennium software (Waters Corporation, Milford MA).

2.3.3. Solid Fat Content measurement

The solid fat contents (SFC) of all the prepared cocoa butter samples were measured after a 24-hour storage using Bruker Minispec spectrometer (Bruker Optics Ltd., ON, Canada). Approximately 3 grams of crystallized cocoa butter was cut into small pieces and placed into NMR glass tubes (10 mm diameter, 1 mm thickness, and 180 mm height). Measurements were taken at 23 °C.

2.3.4. Polymorphic phase analysis

All of the samples' polymorphic behavior was studied using powder X-ray diffraction (XRD) techniques. Rigaku Multiplex powder X-ray diffractometer (Rigaku, Japan) set at reflection mode with a 1.25deg divergence slit, a 1.25deg scatter slit, and a 0.3 mm receiving slit was used. Approximately 0.3 g of the crystallized sample was placed onto a 1 mm glass X-ray slide with 0.5 mm sample cell. Angular scanning was performed at 2 deg/min from 10 to 30 deg 2-theta at 40 kV accelerating voltage and 15 mA current. Measurement was performed in triplicate. The results were analyzed using PDXL version 2.0 (Rigaku, Japan).

2.3.5. Melting profile analysis

The melting profiles of crystallized cocoa butter samples were studied by Differential Scanning Calorimetry Q2000 (DSC) (TA Instrument, New Castle, DE, USA). Approximately 10 mg of cocoa butter samples was placed in Tzero sealed aluminum pans and then transferred to the DSC cell. A sealed empty pan was weighed and placed into the DSC cell as reference. The cell was heated from 15 °C to 45 °C at a rate of 1 °C/min. Melting properties were analyzed by TA Instruments Universal Analysis 2000 (TA Instrument, New Castle, DE, USA). The apex of the melting peak was considered as the melting point of the sample.

2.3.6. Microstructure analysis

A polarized light microscope (PLM) was used to investigate the microstructures of the samples. A small piece of molten cocoa butter (control) or processed semi-solid fat (processed) was placed on a pre-heated (T= 65 °C) glass slice. Cover slip was laid over the drop to remove the air and spread the fat to a thinner layer (a thinner fat layer enabled better observation of microstructure). Microscope slices were transferred to 23 °C incubators and stored for 24h. The images of samples were taken using a Carl Zeiss microscope (Carl Zeiss Microscopy GmbH, Germany) equipped with a digital color and monochrome camera. Images were acquired using 20X and 50X objective lens with AxioImager software (Carl Zeiss). Images under 20X were used in particle analysis. Particle diameter was obtained by analyzing the PLM images using Image J 1.49 (National Institutes of Health) and PeakFit v4.12 (SigmaPlot, Systat Software Inc. U.S.). Particle distributions were fitted in Gaussian smoothing (Chantrell, Popplewell, & Charles, 1978; Maleky & Marangoni, 2008; Marty et al., 2005; Peters, 2001). The fractal dimension of cocoa butter crystals were acquired by the analysis of PLM images. Adobe Photoshop CS6 software (Adobe System Inc., San Jose, CA, USA) was utilized for the threshold of the image. Then the 2d fraction dimension was calculated by Benoit 1.3

(TruSoft International Inc. St. Petersburg, FL, USA) using the box counting method. For the purpose of further analysis, 2d fractal dimension obtained from the box-counting method was converted to a 3d fractal dimension: $D_{3d} = D_{2d} + 1$ (Maleky & Marangoni, 2011).

2.3.7. Magnetic Resonance Imaging measurement

Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) was used to measure oil migration from the cream to the cocoa butter layer. The advantages of MRI include the ability to measure migration non-destructively and to track the transport of oil in a single sample, avoiding problems of sample-to-sample variation. Conventional spin-echo MRI detects signals from liquid lipid protons only (Thierry M Guiheneuf et al., 1997) and hence it is an indirect measure of oil migration.

The MRI measurement was performed using a 7 Tesla human MRI Philips (Cleveland, Ohio) scanner. The images were acquired with a 32-channel head coil. A multi-slice T1 weighted spin-echo method was selected for the acquisition with the following parameters: relaxation/echo time 1000/9.5 ms, field of view 170 x 75 mm, acquisition matrix 680 x 308, in-plane resolution 0.25 x 0.24 mm, slice thickness 2 mm without inter-slice gap, total acquisition time 60 min. 62 slices were obtained from the sample cell with 12 slices for one sample. Among the 12 slices of each sample, the slices at the edge of the sample were not be used. Thus, about 6 slices with clear interface were used for image analysis. Measurement was taken at 0, 3, 7, 14, 21, 56, 77, 98, and 134 days to monitor oil migration during storage. In order to compare day-to-day variations, any spatial difference in the position of the samples were fixed to the reference image

using FLIRT (which is a part of the FMRIB Software Library) (Jenkinson, Bannister, Brady, & Smith, 2002; Jenkinson & Smith, 2001). Image analysis and data analysis were performed with Matlab 2013b (The Mathworks, Inc., Natick, MA, USA).

Representative MRI images of one sample (IVC) at different time points were shown in Figure 8. Specifically, Figure 8a-c show the two-dimensional images of this 2layer sample taken at day 0, day 14, and day 134 respectively. The color bar on the right side indicates the signal intensity. The higher signal intensity represents the cream and the lower signal intensity represents the crystallized fat system.



Figure 8. Representative MRI image for the sample scanned at day 0 (a), day 14 (b) and day 134 (c) of storage at 23 °C

As shown in Figure 8a, the clear interface between the 2 layers indicates that no oil migration occurred at day 0. On day 14 (Fig. 8b), a bright light was observed near the interface on the side of cocoa butter (top layer). The bright light indicates an increase in signal intensity at the contact area of two layers and is related to the occurrence of oil migration. Over the experimental period of 134 days (Fig. 8c), the bright area became broader and extended from the interface toward the crystalized cocoa butter. This extension of the bright area indicates further oil migration over time.

Acquired signal intensity (SI) values for all the samples were rotated counterclockwise by 90° and plotted in Figure 9. This figure shows the SI changed over time during storage at 23 °C. X-axes stand for the distance in sample from cocoa butter (0–31 pixels) to cream (31–45 pixels) for each sample. As seen in Figure 9a, the two regions are distinguishable by the vertical line at the 31st pixels. Using the area under the curve (AUC) of the signal intensity in the crystallized fat region, the extent of the sample's oil migration was characterized. The difference between the value of AUC at t=0 and t=t were quantified as the oil mass uptake (M_t) (Ziegleder & Moser, 1996; Ziegleder & Schwingshandl, 1998). Figure 9b shows the one-dimension signal intensity profile of a representative sample during the experimental period over 134 days. As shown in this figure, the area gradually increased over time, which indicates an increase in degree of liquid oil migration into the crystallized fat.



Figure 9. a) Representative 1-D Signal intensity profile of the sample in vertical direction from top (cocoa butter) to bottom (cream); b) 1-D Signal intensity profile of the sample over time

2.4. Statistical analysis

Samples were analyzed in at least triplicate. Data analysis was conducted using Statistic Analysis System (SAS) 9.4 (SAS institute Inc. Cary. NC, U.S.A.). One-way ANOVA and T-test were applied to determine the significance of difference. Differences were considered significant if p<0.05.

CHAPTER 3. RESULT AND DISCUSSION

3.1. Result and discussion for different properties of crystallized cocoa butter

According to previous studies (Chapter 1), chemical compositions of cocoa butter vary depending on their geographic locations. In order to understand the effects of small differences in chemical compositions on oil diffusivity in the cocoa butter system, different properties of cocoa butter were studied.

3.1.1. Fatty acid evaluation

Fatty acid profiles for all the samples were measured using gas chromatograph and the results are shown in Table 2. As seen in this table, palmitic acid, stearic acid and oleic acid were the major fatty acids in the cocoa butter samples which account for about 26%, 35% and 33% of total fatty acid, respectively. The content of saturated and unsaturated fats in the cocoa butter samples were around 62% and 36%, respectively. The BRZ sample has the lowest saturated fat content and the highest unsaturated fat content compared to the other samples. It is interesting to note that the saturated fat content of the BRZ and the IND samples were significantly lower (p<0.05) compared to the IVC, VEN and ECU samples. Miyasaki (2015) who studied the chemical composition of cocoa butter from Brazil reported that the content of unsaturated and saturated fats were about 60% and 39%, respectively. From the fatty acid composition analysis, the cocoa butter samples from different origins marked significantly different (p<0.05) in the major types of fatty acids. For saturated fatty acids, the ECU sample has the highest palmitic acid content but lowest in stearic acid content compared to other samples. On the other hand, the IVC sample was significantly lower in palmitic acid content but highest in stearic acid content. Interestingly, the VEN sample was second highest in both palmitic and stearic acids. The IND sample has significantly lower palmitic acid but was higher in stearic acid. BRZ sample was significantly lowest in both palmitic and stearic acids. Lehrian and Keeney (1980) stated that cocoa grown at lower temperatures contains less saturated fatty acids than those developed at higher temperatures.

Table 2. Fatty acid composition of the Cocoa butter from Ivory Coast (IVC),Indonesia (IND), Brazil (BRZ), Venezuela (VEN), and Ecuador (ECU)

	Saturated fat (%)	Unsaturated fat (%)	Palmitic acid (%)	Stearic acid (%)	Oleic acid (%)	Linoleic acid (%)
IVC	63.8 ^a	35.9 ^d	25.6 ^{bc}	36.6 ^a	32.7 ^d	2.8 ^d
IND	62.6 ^c	37.0 ^b	25.7 ^{bc}	35.2 ^b	33.7 ^b	2.9 ^c
BRZ	59.9 ^d	39.7 ^a	25.1 ^c	33.3 ^c	35.9 ^a	3.5 ^a
VEN	63.5 ^b	36.2 ^c	26.6 ^b	35.2 ^b	33.1 ^c	2.8 ^d
ECU	63.6 ^{ab}	36.1 ^{cd}	29.2 ^a	32.9 ^c	32.4 ^e	3.2 ^b

* Low case letters (a, b, c ...) represent statistically significant differences of different compounds among the samples from different origins (p<0.05).

The BRZ sample also contained superior amounts of oleic (35%) and linoleic acid (3.5%) content. Gunstone and Harwood (2007) also reported that cocoa butter produced in South America contains levels of oleic acid and linoleic acid (generally >3%) significantly higher than those from Africa and Asia. Cocoa butter from Brazil was often reported unsatisfied crystallization (Lipp & Anklam, 1998). It is interesting to note that, although ECU has the lowest oleic acid content, it has second highest amount of linoleic acid content compared to the other samples. On the other hand, the IND sample was the second highest in oleic acid content but significantly lower in linoleic acid content compared to the other samples. The IVC and VEN samples were among the lowest in both oleic and linoleic acid contents.

3.1.2. Triacylglyceride Composition

Triacylglyceride (TAG) content, as another index of chemical composition of cocoa butter, was studied and reported in Table 3. The TAGs profile of the IVC, IND, BRZ, and ECU samples were summarized from the work of Marty (2009) who shared the same source of raw materials with this study. As shown in Table 3, the cocoa butter samples were mainly composed of symmetrical TAGs with oleic acid in the 2-position: 1,3-dipalmitoyl-2-oleoyl-glycerol (POP), 1-palmitoyl-2- oleoyl-3-estearoyl-glycerol (POSt), and 1,3-diestearoil-2-oleoyl-glycerol (StOSt). They contained only trace amounts of the unsymmetrical triglycerides (PPO, PStO, and StStO).

The TAGs can be classified into four main groups of TAGs: tri-saturated SSS, symmetric di-saturated-mono-unsaturated SUS, mono-saturated-di-unsaturated UUS, and tri-unsaturated UUU (as summarized in Table 3 (where S = saturated, U = unsaturated)).

The VEN sample was highest in total SSS (2.5%), followed by IND (1.6%), ECU (1.2%), IVC (1.1%), and BRZ (0.8%). Total SUS TAG content were higher in IVC sample (93.0%), IND sample (93.0%), and ECU sample (92.5%), followed by VEN (85.3%) and BRZ (85.2%). Total tri-unsaturated UUU content were highest in the BRZ sample (5.6%) followed by ECU (3.0%), IVC (2.4%), IND (2.4%), and VEN (0.5%). However, the symmetrical TAGs varied differently in different samples. For example, the VEN sample contained unusually high in POSt (41.2%) compared to others in the range of 36.9% (IND) to 37.3% (ECU and IVC).

	IVC ^[1]	IND ^[1]	BRZ ^[1]	VEN	ECU ^[1]
OOL (%)	0.6 ± 0.20	1.0 ± 0.30	0.5 ± 0.10	0.0 ± 0.00	1.1 ± 0.50
PLP (%)	1.5 ± 0.50	1.2 ± 0.40	1.5 ± 0.10	1.7 ± 0.14	1.3 ± 0.50
000 (%)	1.8 ± 0.50	1.4 ± 0.30	5.1 ± 0.50	0.5 ± 0.09	1.9 ± 0.90
POP (%)	24.3 ± 0.60	22.7 ± 0.50	22.8 ± 0.40	17.8 ± 0.03	24.1 ± 1.10
StOO (%)	2.1 ± 0.50	1.8 ± 0.40	7.0 ± 0.20	3.7 ± 0.02	2.1 ± 0.80
POSt (%)	37.3 ± 1.80	36.9 ± 1.90	34.1 ± 0.50	41.2 ± 0.19	37.3 ± 1.80
PPSt (%)	0.1 ± 0.10	0.1 + 0.10	0.1 ± 0.10	0.4 ± 0.05	0.1 ± 0.10
StOSt (%)	31.4 ± 0.80	33.4 ± 0.60	28.3 ± 0.20	26.3 ± 0.03	31.1 ± 1.80
StStP (%)	0.3 ± 0.10	0.4 ± 0.10	0.1 ± 0.10	0.5 ± 0.02	0.3 ± 0.20
StStSt (%)	0.7 ± 0.30	1.1 ± 0.50	0.6 ± 0.10	1.6 ± 0.07	0.8 ± 0.50
SSS (%)	1.1	1.6	0.8	2.5	1.2
SUS (%)	93.0	93.0	85.2	85.4	92.5
UUS (%)	2.1	1.8	7	3.67	2.1
UUU (%)	2.4	2.4	5.6	0.5	3
Phosphorus (ppm)	8.0	11.6	75.0	N. A.	4.3

Table 3. Triacylglyceride (TAG) composition, Phosphorous, and Free fatty acid content of the Cocoa butter from Ivory Coast (IVC), Indonesia (IND), Brazil (BRZ), Venezuela (VEN), and Ecuador (ECU)

[1] Marty, S., & Marangoni, A. G. (2009). Effects of cocoa butter origin, tempering procedure, and structure on oil migration kinetics. *Crystal Growth and Design*, 9(10), 4415–4423.

- [2] P = palmitic acid, O = oleic acid, and St = stearic acid.
- [3] SSS = tri-saturated TAGs (PPSt + StStP + StStSt); SUS = symmetrical di-saturatedmono-unsaturated TAGs (POP + StOSt + POSt); UUS = mono-saturated-diunsaturated TAGs (StOO); UUU = tri-unsaturated TAGs (OOO+OOL);

In addition, Lonchampt and Hartel (2004) and Shukla (2006) analyzed cocoa samples from different origins and found that Brazilian cocoa butter showed the highest content of UUS, which corroborates the results presented here. The StOO content of the BRZ sample was obviously highest at 7% compared to other origins that ranged from 1.8% (IND) to 3.7% (VEN). The UUS TAGs have melting points between 27 °C and 42 °C that are responsible for structural and sensorial properties at room temperature. The ratio between SSU and UUS contents in cocoa butter is selectively associated with technological functionality used by the industry (Bessler & Orthoefer, 1983). According to Lipp and Anklam (1998), cocoa butter with lower SSU and higher UUS levels, such as the Brazilian cocoa butter, can lead to unsatisfactory crystallization characteristics.

Beside the fatty acids and the TAGs of cocoa butter, minor compounds like phospholipids also influence the cocoa butter network (Foubert & Vanrolleghem, 2004). Phospholipids are an important minor component in cocoa butter and the contents of phospholipid vary due to the different growth conditions.

3.1.3. Solid fat content study

The solid fat contents (SFC) for cocoa butter samples were measured using pulsed nuclear magnetic resonance (p-NMR) and results are reported in Table 4. The SFC for control samples were in the range of 61%-78%. We observed slight drops in the SFCs of processed samples in comparison with those of control samples, although the difference was not statistically significant. For the control samples, the BRZ sample had the lowest SFC (60.71%) while the VEN sample was highest in SFC on average (78.30%). Moreover, the IVC, VEN, and ECU samples have significantly higher SFC compared to

the IND and BRZ samples. A similar pattern was observed for processed samples but the differences in SFC between the VEN, ECU, and IVC samples were now apparent. The SFC of the VEN sample was significantly higher than ECU, but the SFC of the IVC sample has no significant difference with the VEN and ECU samples. Cocoa butter from South American regions close to the equator, such as Venezuela, were reported to be similar to those of African origin. However, Brazil is a cooler climate area and produces softer cocoa butter (Timms, 2012).

	Control (%)	Processed (%)		
IVC	76.56 ^{a,i}	75.69 ^{AB, i}	-	
IND	71.34 ^{b,i}	70.17 ^{C,i}		
BRZ	60.71 ^{c,i}	59.39 ^{D,i}		
VEN	78.30 ^{a,i}	77.95 ^{A,i}		
ECU	75.7 ^{a,i}	74.15 ^{B,i}		

Table 4. Solid Fat Content (SFC) of cocoa butter samples from different origins under different processing conditions

* Low case letters (a, b, c ...) represent statistically significant differences among the control samples from different origins (p<0.05).

** Capital letters (A, B, C ...) represent statistically significant differences among the processed samples from different origins (p<0.05).

*** Low case of Roma letters (i, ii) represent statistically significant differences between control samples and processed samples in each origins (p<0.05).

The SFC is a parameter that expresses the solid/liquid mass relation of a fat at a specific temperature and is strongly influenced by the chemical composition of cocoa butter (Ribeiro et al., 2012). The relationship of SFC with the saturated fat content of the

samples is shown in Figure 10. The SFC of both the control and processed samples were directly correlated to the saturated fat content of the samples and can be seen across the origins with significantly high correlation coefficients. The correlation coefficient between the SFC and percent saturated fat content were at 0.982 and 0.973 for control and processed samples, respectively.



Figure 10. Solid fat content (SFC) of control and processed cocoa butter samples

It is interesting to note that the SFC of the VEN samples for both control and processed samples were significantly higher than others although its saturated fat content was significantly lower than IVC and not significant different than ECU. This observation can be attributed to TAG compositions which can provide more insight into the properties of the fat. The evidently high SFC of the VEN sample can be attributed to its highest tri-saturated SSS TAG content (2.5%) compared to others in the range of 0.8% (BRZ) to 1.6% (IND). Analysis of the symmetrical SUS TAGs composition revealed that the VEN sample was higher in POSt (41.2%) compared to IVC (37.3%) and ECU (37.3%). According to Shukla (2006), the SFC is correlated with the symmetrical SUS TAGs presented in the cocoa butter composition and tends to increase with greater SSU content. However, this is not evident in this study. The VEN sample was significantly lower in total SSU (85.3%) compared to both IVC at 93% and ECU at 92.5%. Moreover, high SFC of VEN may be attributed to its trace amounts of tri-unsaturated TAGs UUU at only 0.47% compared to others at 2.4% (IVC, IND) to 5.6% (BRZ). In addition, small amount of phosphorus content in the VEN sample compared to others in the range of 4.3 ppm (ECU) to 75 ppm (BRZ) could be associated with the evidently high SFC in VEN sample.

The higher content of tri-unsaturated TAGs (UUU) in the BRZ samples (5.6%) compared to others in the range of 0.47% (VEN) to 3% (ECU) can potentially explain the lower SFC in the BRZ samples compared to others. Marty (2009) also documented a lower value of SFC in the Brazilian samples compared with the cocoa butters from other sources. Lipp and Anklam reported that higher percentages of POO and StOO were characteristic of cocoa butter with superior softness and can lead to unsatisfactory crystallization characteristics (Lipp and Anklam, 1998). The BRZ sample has enormously high StOO (7%) compared to others in the range of 1.8% (IND) to 3.7% (VEN). High content of this mono-saturated TAG can interrupt the molecular packing of the symmetrical TAGs and providing a superior softness to the cocoa butter (Foubert et al., 2004). Moreover, abundant phospholipids were observed in the BRZ samples and may be

related to its evidently low value of SFC. Studies showed that the level of phosphorus has a significant impact on cocoa butter solidification (Arruda & Dimick, 1991; Foubert & Vanrolleghem, 2004; Lechter, 2012; Marty & Marangoni, 2009).

Interestingly, the SFC of the IND sample was rather low compared to others, regardless of the BRZ sample. The TAG analysis revealed that its total tri-saturated TAG content was rather high (SSS at 1.6%) and its total SSU (93%) was highest among others. Further analysis of the tri-unsaturated TAGs showed similar content with the IVC sample at 2.4%. The low amount of SFC could be attributed to much a higher content of phosphorus in the IND sample at 11.6 ppm compared to IVC (8 ppm) and ECU (4.3 ppm).

IVC and the ECU samples showed comparable content of SSS, SSU, and UUS TAGs. This can be explained by the similar SFC in both control and processed samples.

3.1.4 Polymorphic phase

Polymorphism behaviors of the samples were studied using X-ray diffraction (XRD) analysis. The representative XRD patterns for control and processed samples after crystallization for 24 hours are shown in Figure 11a and 11b, respectively.



Figure 11. X-ray diffraction (XRD) patterns of control (a) and processed (b) cocoa butters samples crystallized at 23°C for 24 h

For control samples except for the BRA sample, one strong peak at 4.5 Å and four small peaks at 3.9 Å, 3.8 Å, 3.7 Å, 3.6 Å were observed, which indicate the β_V polymorphic form (Wille & Lutton, 1966b). β_V is a stable polymorphic phase for cocoa butter which provides desirable thermal properties and rheological properties (Beckett, 2000; Talbot, 2012a).

For BRZ control samples, a strong peak at 4.5 Å (19.3 2 θ) and six small peaks at 4.3Å, 4.2 Å, 4.1 Å, 3.9 Å, 3.8 Å, and 3.7 Å were observed. This pattern indicates a

mixture of β' (form III and form IV) and β_V polymorphic form (Ali, 2013; Jun-Hyun & Swanson, 2006; Wille & Lutton, 1966b). Previous studies illustrated that cocoa butter, in the absence of processing, initially crystallizes in unstable polymorphic forms, β'_{III} and $\beta'_{IV},$ and then transforms to a more stable form, β_V (Sonwai & Mackley, 2006; Wille & Lutton, 1966b). As shown in Figure 11, the Brazilian control sample in this experiment was still in the transition from β' to β_V . The slow crystallization of the Brazilian sample could be due to low saturated fat content and high unsaturated fat content as discussed earlier. Chaiseri and Dimick also reported slow crystallization in Brazilian cocoa butter compared to the cocoa butter from Ivory Coast and Malaysia. (Chaiseri & Dimick, 1995) The transition from unstable form (β') to stable form (β_V) as the crystallization continues results in changes in SFC and crystalline alignment (Beckett, 2000; Bouzidi & Narine, 2012; Alvarado et al., 2004; Sasaki et al., 2012). The unstable crystalline phase can promote the oil migration process (Hartel, 1999; Wille & Lutton, 1966b). However, the effects of polymorphic forms on oil diffusivity are complicated and will not be investigated in this work. Thus, with a distinctly unstable polymorphic form, the Brazilian control samples will not be discussed in the oil migration analysis.

For processed samples, all of them were in β_V polymorphic form regardless of origins. This shows that processing accelerates crystallization process of cocoa butter and promotes stable polymorphic transition. Processing having similar effects on polymorphic transitions of cocoa butter has been reported by previous researches (Shi & Maleky, 2015).

3.1.5. Melting point

In order to study the samples' melting point, the melting profiles of samples were studied using differential scanning calorimetry (DSC). The representative melting profiles for both control and processed samples after 24-hours crystallization are shown in Figure 12a and 12b, respectively.



Figure 12. DSC heating curve of control (a) and processed (b) cocoa butter samples

The Brazilian control samples showed a lower melting point at 28.72 °C (Fig. 12a). However, the rest of the control samples (Fig. 12a) and all of the processed samples (Fig. 12b) have a melting point at around 32 °C. Melting points for all the samples were plotted and compared in Figure 13. As shown in Figure 13, the melting point of the BRZ control sample was significantly lower compared to the rest of control samples. For processed samples, the VEN and IVC samples had significantly higher melting points compared with the BRZ and ECU cocoa butters. The melting points for the IND samples were similar to those of IVC, VEN, and ECU, but significantly higher than those of the BRZ samples. The BRZ samples had the lowest melting points, possibly due to the higher content of unsaturated fat and lower content of saturated fat (seen in Table 2). Moreover, there was no significant difference between control and processed cocoa butters from IVC, IND, VEN, and ECU. The significant differences between the control BRZ samples and the processed BRZ samples was due to the different polymorphic phases.





^{**} Capital letters (A, B, C ...) represent statistically significant differences among the processed samples from different origins (p<0.05).

*** Low case of Roma letters (i, ii) represent statistically significant differences between control samples and processed samples in each origins (p<0.05).

Figure 13. Melting points for control and processed cocoa butter samples

3.1.6. Microstructure investigation

Previous studies have shown that a difference in SFC could result in a different microstructure of the fat crystal network (Narine & Marangoni, 1999). Regardless of processing conditions, SFCs are different in cocoa butters from different origins due to the effects of chemical composition (shown in Table 2). Moreover, studies have suggested that processing applied during cocoa butter crystallization can induce significant changes in the structure of cocoa butter (Acevedo et al., 2012; Sonwai & Mackley, 2006). In order to explore the effects of chemical characteristics and the impacts of processing conditions on the structure of cocoa butter, polarized light microscopy (PLM) was employed. PLM images showing the microstructure of cocoa butters are presented in Figure 14.



Figure 14. PLM micrographs for control and processed cocoa butter samples

In control samples, differences in microstructure were observed among the cocoa butters from different origins. The IVC sample, reported with the nucleation type of sporadic (Marty & Marangoni, 2009), exhibited heterogeneous microstructure with both small round crystals and medium size needle-like crystals. In the IND sample, large bulk crystals aggregated into spherical cluster; The BRZ sample exhibited needle-like crystal which joined together to form clusters. Less dense crystals were observed in the BRZ samples compared with the rest of control samples. VEN and ECU exhibited both large and small particles with bow-tie structure and spherical cluster.

However, as shown in Figure 14, processing applied during crystallization significantly changed the structure of the cocoa butter crystalline network into micro scale. Smaller particles with more homogeneous distribution can be observed in processed samples compared to the control samples. The shearing process during cocoa butter crystallization breaks the newly formed crystals and distributes them evenly throughout the system (Maleky & Marangoni, 2008; Stapley et al., 1999). They also attributed the high density of small and homogeneous networks in the sheared system to high rate of nucleation.

Within the processed samples, larger crystals were observed in the IVC and ECU samples compared with the others. On the other hand, no apparent morphological difference was observed among the IND, BRZ and VEN samples.

Besides morphological analysis, the PLM micrographs were quantified for crystal dimensions and frequency distribution, as reported in Figure 15. Wider crystal size distributions were observed in the control samples compared to the processed samples for all cocoa butter origins. The broad distribution of crystal diameters in the control samples

can be explained from the heterogeneous arrangement of the crystal network. On the other hand, narrower frequency distribution of crystal diameters in the processed samples suggests that the size of crystals centralized in smaller ranges and this match the observation of homogeneous distribution in Figure 14.



Figure 15. a) Representation of frequency distribution of particle diameter and mean crystal diameter (marked with arrow) c)-f) Particle diameter distribution of control and processed cocoa butter sample from Ivory Coast (IVC), Indonesia (IND), Brazil (BRZ), Venezuela (VEN), and Ecuador (ECU), respectively

Moreover, both control and processed samples were further analyzed using Image J and PeakFit software. As shown in Figure 15a, the particle diameter with highest frequency is considered as mean crystal diameter. From visual analysis of Figure 15b-f, the mean diameters were obviously smaller in processed samples compared to control samples for all the samples from different origins. The measured mean crystal diameters are reported in Table 5.

	a ()	μm)
	Control	Processed
IVC	$5.00 \pm 0.09^{b,i}$	$3.72 \pm 0.06^{A,ii}$
IND	$5.43 \pm 0.10^{a,i}$	$3.75 \pm 0.06^{AB,ii}$
BRZ	$4.97 \pm 0.10^{b,i}$	$3.82 \pm 0.06^{AB,ii}$
VEN	$5.25 \pm 0.12^{ab,i}$	$3.65 \pm 0.07^{B,ii}$
ECU	$5.46 \pm 0.11^{a,i}$	$3.94 \pm 0.07^{A,ii}$

Table 5. Mean crystal diameter (a) of crystalized cocoa butters

* Low case letters (a, b, c ...) represent statistically significant differences among the control samples from different origins (p<0.05).

** Capital letters (A, B, C ...) represent statistically significant differences among the processed samples from different origins (p<0.05).

*** Low case of Roma letters (i, ii) represent statistically significant differences between control samples and processed samples in each origins (p<0.05).

As expected, the mean particle diameters of the processed samples were significantly (p<0.05) smaller compared to the control samples for all origins. Among the control samples, mean particle diameters of BRZ and IVC were significantly smaller than the ECU and IND samples. For processed samples, although less morphological differences were observed within samples analyzed in Figure 14, the mean diameter of

the samples were significantly different among different origins. The processed IVC and ECU samples have significantly (p<0.05) larger mean particles. Interestingly, the mean crystal diameters of VEN samples were significantly smaller among the origins. Therefore, slight differences in chemical compositions of cocoa butter among different origins greatly impacted the micro-structure of both control and processed samples.

3.2. Result for oil migration experiment and relative discussion

The migration of oil was monitored using MRI over 100 days and oil uptake by cocoa butter was quantified by image analysis which had been introduced in the previous section.

3.2.1. Control samples

The kinetics of oil migration in the control samples was studied to understand the effects of minor differences in chemical compositions of cocoa butter among different origins without the influence of processing. The oil uptake graphs for control samples from different origins are shown in Figure 16a. As shown in this figure, all of the samples reached saturation point after 55 days (around 8 weeks). The oil uptake by the cocoa butter from cream followed a similar pattern which can be represented as the curve shown in Figure 16b. The oil uptake increased linearly over time during the first 8 weeks and then the slope of the curve decreased dramatically when it reached the saturation point. For better quantification, the curve was divided into two regions based on the specific duration (before 8 weeks and after 8 weeks), as shown in Figure 16b. The solid

line in region 1 is the linear regression of the experimental data before 8 weeks while dash line in region 2 represents the linear curve fitting for the data after 8 weeks.

The slope values of the solid line and the dash line of the control samples from different origins are reported in Table 6 as slope 1 and slope 2, respectively. Slope 2 of all of the samples were prominently lower than slope 1. Ranged between 0.0003 and 0.0037, the small value of slope 2 approximating to zero indicates the achievement of the saturation point as the curve reached a plateau.



Figure 16. a) Oil uptakes curve for one representative samples; b) Oil uptakes (in arbitrary unit) over experimental period of control samples from IVC, IND, VEN and ECU

Table 6. Slope change in mass transfer curves (oil uptake as a function of time) of control samples

	IVC		IND		BRZ		VEN		ECU	
	slope	R^2	slope	R^2	slope	R^2	slope	R^2	slope	R^2
Slope 1	0.019	0.82	0.014	0.50	N.D.	N.D.	0.011	0.71	0.015	0.56
Slope 2	0.0037	0.99	0.0003	0.98	N.D.	N.D.	0.0023	0.91	0.0014	0.85

Further, a curve fitting method was also conducted to determine the saturation point. The experimental data were fit into an algebraic expression as follows:

$$M_t = M_{\infty}'(1 - e^{-bt})$$
 (3.1)

where M_t is defined as the oil uptake at time t, M_{∞} is the maximum oil uptake after the migration reach equilibrium, b is the rate constant. This equation describes the exponential rise of the oil uptake, M_t from zero at t=0 and reaching maximum oil uptake, M_{∞} at the saturation point. Similar approaches have been used in previous studies to describe the uptake of liquid material in lipid systems over time (McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008; Paluri et al., 2015). Figure 17 shows the curve fitting of control samples from different origins with respective to sum of square of error (SSE). The low values of the SSE (SSE<0.4) indicate that the models were adequate to describe the experimental data. The models were further used to determine the saturation point of the samples since both the slope-changing method and the fitting-curve method made evident that the oil uptake in all samples have reached plateau after 8 weeks.



Figure 17. Curve fitting for control samples in algebraic expression $M_t = M_{\infty}'(1 - e^{-bt})$

Maximum oil uptake (M_{∞}) is the amount of oil uptake at saturation point when sample have been contacted with a foreign oil source for a sufficiently long time that can be used to describe the extent of migration. The M_{∞} of the control samples from different origins are plotted in Figure 18. The maximum oil uptake of the control samples were higher in IVC samples, followed by IND and ECU samples, and lower in the VEN sample. Interestingly, the maximum oil uptake for IVC, IND, and ECU were not significantly different from each other.



* Low case letters (a, b, c ...) represent statistically significant differences among the control samples from different origins (p<0.05).

Figure 18. Maximum oil uptake for the control samples from different origins

Even though M_{∞} is a good indicator for oil migration, studies have documented the importance of the oil migration rate over M_{∞} to characterize the mass transfer of oil during the experimental period for a different fat system (Altan et al., 2011; Ghosh et al., 2002). For example, Altan studied the rate and extent of oil migration in chocolate and almond products, highlighted that the M_{∞} can be higher in samples with lower oil migration rate (Altan et al., 2011). In this study, oil migration rate was calculated based on an approximate equation from Crank (1957). According to Crank's study, uptake is considered as a dimensionless quantity, M_t/M_{∞} , which could be approximated by the following equation:

$$\frac{M_t}{M_{\infty}} = kt^{0.5} \tag{3.2}$$

where k (day ^{-0.5}) represents the migration rate, M_t is the oil uptake at the time t, and M_{∞} is the uptake at a sufficiently long time. Eq. 3.2 shows a linear correlation between the dimensionless uptake and the square root of the time. The ratio of M_t/M_{∞} can range from zero at the initial time to approximately one after a long time (Peppas & Brannon-Peppas, 1994). However, Peppas suggested that this equation is used when M_t/M_{∞} is less than 0.67 (Peppas & Brannon-Peppas, 1994). The oil migration rates (k) of the control samples are shown in Figure 19.



* Low case letters (a, b, c \dots) represent statistically significant differences among the control samples from different origins (p<0.05).

Figure 19. Oil migration rate for the control samples from different origins

As shown in Figure 19, among samples from different origins, the IND sample showed a higher migration rate among others, which was 0.15. On the other hand, the migration rate of the VEN sample was significantly lower (0.10) compared to the IND sample (0.15). The rates of oil migration were similar in the IVC, IND, and ECU samples. Marty et al (2005), who used a similar fat system (cocoa butter/cream model) also reported similar oil migration rates ranging from 0.17 to 0.20 quantified using Crank's equation (Crank, 1957) (eq. 3.2). Moreover, Marty and Marangoni reported that the oil

migration in IVC and ECU samples were not significantly different.(Marty & Marangoni, 2009)

In order to better understand the effects of chemical composition on oil migration in cocoa butter systems, fatty acids composition (Table 2) and TAGs profile of the cocoa butters were investigated. TAG crystallization forms the basis for the development of a fat crystal network. About 20% of the triglycerides in cocoa butter are liquid at room temperature, therefore variation of chemical composition can result in different SFC in cocoa butters (Marty & Marangoni, 2009). Small changes in TAG composition can have a big impact on the crystallization properties of cocoa butter (Timms, 2012). Lohman (1994) and Marty (2009) who studied oil diffusivity of cocoa butter also proposed that lower SFC in cocoa butter promoted the migration of oil into the fat network. The diffusive process of the oil in the cocoa butter is driven by different TAGs concentration between a oil-rich phase (cream) and a crystalline fat-rich phase (cocoa butter) (Galdámez et al., 2009; Ghosh et al., 2002). The higher the solid fat content, the less the percentage of liquid oil present in the samples. As the migration takes place through the liquid portion of cocoa butter, a higher SFC decreases the rate of oil transporting (Ghosh et al., 2002).

As expected, the oil migration rates of the cocoa butter samples from different origins were inversely related to the SFC (Table 4). The significantly lower oil migration rate in the VEN sample can be attributed to high SFC (78.3%) compared to other samples. High solid content in the VEN sample retarded the foreign oil from passing through cocoa butter matrix. As discussed in previous section, the VEN sample has high saturated fat content (63.5%) comparable to the IVC and ECU samples. However, the significantly
higher SFC and lower oil migration rate of the VEN sample in particular may be associated with the relatively high content of both stearic and palmitic acids. In comparison, the IVC sample was the highest in stearic acid but lower in palmitic acid, while ECU sample was highest in palmitic acid but lowest in stearic acid, compared to other samples.

The analysis of TAG profiles reveal that the VEN sample had the highest content of tri-saturated TAGs (by a significant amount), highest content of symmetrical POSt TAG, the lowest content of tri-unsaturated TAGs (UUU), and a negligible amount of phosphorus compared to samples from other origins. These properties may contribute to the superiority of the VEN sample over the others in SFC content and the correspondingly lower oil migration rate. Moreover, the oil migration rates of the IVC and ECU samples were as comparable as their TAG profiles were similar, in particular the SSS, SUS, and UUS TAGs contents. Thus, the TAGs compositions of cocoa butter not only influence the SFC but also directly affect the oil migration rate.

On the other hand, the oil migration rate of the IND sample was significantly higher (p<0.05) as it has the lowest SFC (71.34%). The IND sample has a higher oleic acid content but is significantly lower in linoleic acid compared to the ECU sample. The high content of tri-unsaturated TAGs in the IND sample compared to others may also contribute to its high oil migration rate (Figure 19). This result agreed with the conclusion from the study by Marty and Marangoni (2009) which evaluated the significant correlations of oil migration rate with the content of tri-unsaturated TAGs. In addition, the high oil migration in the IND sample could be attributed to high phosphorus content compared to others. Minor compounds like phospholipids also influenced the

structure of cocoa butter network (Foubert.I, Vanrolleghem P.A., 2004; Savage & Dimick, 1995). Phospholipids are an important minor component in cocoa butter as studies showed that the level of phosphorus has significant impact on cocoa butter solidification (Arruda & Dimick, 1991; Foubert.I, Vanrolleghem P.A., 2004; Lechter, 2012; Stéphanie Marty & Marangoni, 2009).

Overall, significant differences in the oil migration rate of the samples can be attributed to differences in chemical composition observed among samples from different origins. In particular, fatty acid, TAGs, and phospholipid levels are significantly affected by the SFC of cocoa butter and directly contribute to the variations in the oil migration rate.

3.2.2. Processed samples

Similar analysis as employed in the controls samples were performed on the processed samples to evaluate the effect of processing on oil migration rate of cocoa butter samples from different origins. As shown in Figure 20, it took longer for the oil uptakes from cream to coca butter to reach the plateau, which was about 77 days (11 weeks). The maximum oil uptake (M_{∞}) of the processed samples from different origins were plotted and compared in Figure 21. The maximum oil uptake (M_{∞}) of the processed samples, ranged from 0.4 to 1.1, were also lower than the M_{∞} in the control samples (0.8-1.4). This shows that the shearing during crystallization slowed down oil migration rate and decreased the maximum amount of oil uptake by the cocoa butter samples from all origins. The processing also allowed the BRZ sample to achieved stable β_V polymorphic form for the oil migration behaviors to be studied.



Figure 20. Oil uptakes (in arbitrary unit) over experimental period of processed samples from IVC, IND, BRZ, VEN and ECU

The M_{∞} were significantly different among samples from different origins. As expected, the M_{∞} was significantly (p<0.05) highest in the BRZ sample and lowest in the VEN sample compared to others. On the other hand, the M_{∞} of the IND sample has no significant difference with BRZ sample. The M_{∞} of the ECU sample was lower than the IND sample but higher than the IVC sample. However, there was no significance difference between M_{∞} of these samples.





The oil migration rates of the processed samples, calculated based on eq. 3.2 were plotted in Figure 22. The oil migration rates among samples from different origins were significantly different (p<0.05). Notably, the trend for oil migration rates of the processed samples was similar to the control samples. This clearly shows the effects of chemical composition for different cocoa butter origins on the oil migration kinetics. The BRZ processed sample had the highest oil migration rate and the lowest oil migration rate was found in the VEN processed sample. The oil migration rate of the BRZ samples was 0.14, which was significantly higher than the VEN samples (0.076). There was no significant difference in the rates of oil migration between the IVC, IND, and ECU processed samples. This result agreed with the observation in Marty's study (Marty & Marangoni, 2009) which reported similar oil migration rates in tempered ECU, IVC and IND cocoa butter.





Figure 22. Oil migration rate for the processed samples from different origins

Higher oil migration rates in the BRZ samples can be attributed to its high unsaturated fatty acids (59.9%) content and low saturated fatty acids (39.7%) content (Table 2). This is also evident from its lowest SFC (59.9%) (Table 4) compared to samples from other origins. Thus, the effects of chemical composition significantly (p<0.05) influenced the oil migration rate of the processed samples.

3.2.3. Comparison of control and processed samples

3.2.3.1. Oil migration rate

In order to understand the effects of processing conditions on oil diffusivity in cocoa butter from different origins, the migration rate of control and processed samples were compared in Figure 23. The processing condition applied during cocoa butter crystallization significantly delayed the oil migration in the IVC, IND, and ECU samples. Interestingly, the VEN sample showed no significant difference between control and processed samples. The shearing process during the crystallization of cocoa butter has been reported to retard oil migration as a result of significant modification on the structure of cocoa butter networks (Acevedo et al., 2012; Maleky & Marangoni, 2008; Maleky et al., 2012; Maleky et al., 2011; Shi & Maleky, 2015; Sonwai & Mackley, 2006; Stapley et al., 1999).



Low case letters (a, b, c ...) represent statistically significant differences among the control samples from different origins (p<0.05).

** Capital letters (A, B, C ...) represent statistically significant differences among the processed samples from different origins (p<0.05).

*** Low case of Roma letters (i, ii) represent statistically significant differences between control samples and processed samples in each origins (p<0.05).

Figure 23. Comparison of Oil migration rate for the control and processed samples from different origins

Even though applying shearing during crystallization could slow down the transport of oil, similar trends of oil migration rate were observed among the samples from different origins for both control and processed samples. Thus, the processing during cocoa butter crystallization decreased oil migration in the cocoa butter system. However, the influence of processing on oil diffusivity could not overcome the effect of minor differences in chemical composition.

3.2.3.2. Effective diffusion coefficient analysis

As mentioned earlier, the migration of oil in multiple lipid layers is considered a diffusion process. The rate of oil migration can be better analyzed from a diffusion equation where the diffusion coefficient is a quantitative measurement of the rate at which a diffusion process occurs (Crank, 1975). In lipid systems, which consist of a mixture of solid fat and liquid oil, the diffusion coefficient is also referred to as the effective diffusion coefficient, D_{eff} (Chinachoti, 1997; Ghosh et al., 2002). The effective diffusion coefficient in the lipid phase can be calculated based on two different mathematics models: the Peppas model and the Zigeler model.

Peppas model

With the appropriate initial conditions and boundary conditions offered by Peppas (1994) in similar fat systems, the ratio of M_t and M_{∞} could be approximated to the following equation:

$$\frac{M_{t}}{M_{\infty}} = 1 - \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \frac{8}{(2q+1)^{2} * \pi^{2}} \exp\left[\frac{-D_{eff} (2q+1)^{2} * \pi^{2}}{l^{2}}t\right]$$
(3.3)

where M_t is defined as the oil uptake at time t, M_{∞} is the maximum oil uptake after the migration reaches equilibrium, t (s) is time, D_{eff} (m²s⁻¹) is the effective diffusion coefficient among the migration behavior, and l (m) is the thickness of cocoa butter where oil migration took place. The thickness of oil migration, l can be measured as the oil migration front as defined in Marty and Maleky's work (Maleky & Marangoni, 2011; Marty et al., 2009).



* Low case letters (a, b, c ...) represent statistically significant differences among the control samples from different origins (p<0.05).

** Capital letters (A, B, C ...) represent statistically significant differences among the processed samples from different origins (p<0.05).

*** Low case of Roma letters (i, ii) represent statistically significant differences between control samples and processed samples in each origins (p<0.05).

Figure 24. Comparison of effective diffusion coefficient, D_{eff} for the control and processed samples from different origins (Peppas model)

The diffusion coefficients of samples were calculated and shown in Figure 24. The diffusion coefficients of processed samples were significantly lower (p<0.05) than the control samples for all the cocoa butter from different origins. Notably, diffusion coefficients for control samples were almost 10 times higher than those in processed samples. This is in agreement with the study by Maleky (2011) who reported that the diffusion coefficients in static samples are 8 times higher than the D_{eff} in sheared samples. However, the trends of D_{eff} across different origins were similar for both control and processed samples regardless of the BRZ sample. For the control samples, the IND sample has the highest D_{eff} at $6.10 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$, which was almost 5 times the D_{eff} of the VEN sample. The VEN sample has the lowest D_{eff} at $1.28 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$. The D_{eff} of the IND sample was almost five times higher than that of the VEN sample. On the other hand, the D_{eff} of the IVC sample $(1.94 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1})$ was not significantly different from the ECU sample $(2.59 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1})$ which were in between the VEN and IND samples.

For the processed samples, as expected, the BRZ sample had the highest D_{eff} with $0.79 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$, while lower values of D_{eff} were obtained in the IVC, IND, VEN and ECU samples at $0.33 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$, $0.50 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$, $0.21 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$ and $0.32 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$, respectively. Similarly, the VEN sample was also reported as the lowest value of D_{eff} of the processed samples. Interestingly, the differences in D_{eff} among the control IND, IVC and ECU samples were minimal compared to the processed samples in oil migration rate.

Zigeler model

An alternative approximate equation to describes the oil migration in chocolate systems was proposed by Ziegleder(1998) as follows:

$$\frac{M_{t}}{M_{\infty}} = \frac{KA\sqrt{D_{eff}t}}{V}$$
(3.4)

where M_t and M_{∞} are the mass migrated at time t and at saturation, respectively. A (m²) is the contact area between two phases, V (m³) represents the volume through which the diffusion takes place, t (s) is the migration time, D_{eff} (m²s⁻¹) is the effective diffusion

coefficient among the migration behavior, and K is a constant specific to two phase. In an ideal system K=1. However, K>1 when there are structural changes due to swelling or eutectic effects and K<1 happens when there is insufficient contact between the two phases (Cussler, 1997; Ziegler, 2009).

Equation (3.4) can be simplified to $M_t/M_{\infty} = \sqrt{D_{eff}t}/l^2$. The *l* is the thickness of fat media where oil migration took place. The D_{eff} using the Ziegler model of the cocoa butter of different origins for control and processed samples were calculated and plotted in Figure 25.





** Capital letters (A, B, C ...) represent statistically significant differences among the processed samples from different origins (p<0.05).

*** Low case of Roma letters (i, ii) represent statistically significant differences between control samples and processed samples in each origins (p<0.05).

Figure 25. Comparison of effective diffusion coefficient for the control and processed samples from different origins (Zigeler model)

As shown in Figure 25, the D_{eff} values were slightly higher but similar trends were observed between the samples: the D_{eff} were significantly higher (8 times) in control samples than in processed ones and the trends of D_{eff} were also similar among the IVC, IND, and ECU cocoa butter in both controls and processed samples. Further analysis showed that the D_{eff} of the VEN controlled sample was significantly lower than the IND sample, but less variation was observed for the processed samples. Higher D_{eff} was observed in the BRZ processed sample ($3.67 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$), which was 4 times more than the VEN processed sample ($5.52 \times 10^{-13} \text{ m}^2 \text{s}^{-1}$).

Comparing the Peppas and Zigeler models, the effective diffusion coefficients obtained from the Peppas model were more distinguishable between different origins in both control and processed samples. In the Zigeler model, the K constant in eq. 3.4 is considered as 1 when the contact between two phases is assumed in an ideal condition (Cussler, 1997; Maleky & Marangoni, 2011; Ziegleder & Schwingshandl, 1998). However, this ideal condition is difficult to be proven in this study. Therefore, Peppas model seems to be more credible and reliable in the application of this study and thus, used thereafter.

The effective diffusion coefficients in this study as summarized in Table 7 are also in agreement with the values reported in similar fat migration systems (Lee et al., 2010; Maleky & Marangoni, 2011; McCarthy & McCarthy, 2008). McCarthy (2008) obtained a diffusion coefficient of 2.3 $\times 10^{-11}$ (m²s⁻¹) in peanut butter paste through the chocolate with different formulation, while Lee et al. (2010) showed a D_{eff} value of $1.1-2.0 \times 10^{-13}$ m²s⁻¹ in another 2-layer fat system. Maleky reported the D_{eff} values of $8.1 \times 10^{-12} (m^2 s^{-1})$ and $1.3 \times 10^{-12} (m^2 s^{-1})$ for static and shear samples respectively (Maleky & Marangoni, 2011).

The range of diffusion coefficients reported for liquid through liquids were around approximately 10^{-9} m²s⁻¹ and for liquid through solids were approximately 10^{-14} m²s⁻¹ (Cussler, 2009; Ghosh et al., 2002). The values of D_{eff} in this study ranged from 2.1×10^{-14} m²s⁻¹ to 6.1×10^{-13} m²s⁻¹ and were therefore within the range of liquid and solid media. Thus, we postulated that the migration of foreign liquid oil through the crystalized fat were mainly via the liquid portion of the cocoa butter. The network of cocoa butter is composed of solid crystals that traps and holds liquid oil, where about 20% of the TAGs are in liquid forms at room temperature (Timms, 2012).

While comparing the effects of processing and different origins of cocoa butter on the D_{eff} and oil migration rate values, it becomes apparent that the D_{eff} parameter was more sensitive in distinguishing the oil diffusivity behaviors of the samples. In particular, the oil migration rates between the IVC and ECU control samples had no significant difference but their D_{eff} values were significantly different. When considering both oil migration rates and diffusion coefficients, this study shows that the processing condition effectively reduced diffusion of foreign oil through cocoa butter. However, similar trends observed between the control and processed samples for both parameters may conclude that the processing condition was unable to eliminate the effects of chemical compositions between different cocoa butter origins.

3.2.3.3. Permeability analysis

As we discussed above, small changes in chemical composition impact the microstructure of crystallized cocoa butter. And the structure of cocoa butter is important in affecting oil migration rate (Maleky, 2008). To further investigate the relationship between structural factors and the oil migration rate, it is necessary to introduce another parameter, the permeability coefficient. The permeability coefficient is a measure of the ability of a porous material to allow fluids to pass through it (Schlumberger, 2015; Whitaker, 1986) and is widely used in describing the network of fat materials (Dahlenborg et al. 2015; Alvarado et al., 2004; Maleky & Marangoni, 2011; Marty & Marangoni, 2009). The permeability coefficient introduced in Darcy's law was calculated using the following equation (Whitaker, 1986):

$$B = \frac{a^2}{\tau} \phi \frac{2}{D-3} \qquad (3.5)$$

where *a* is the particle diameter, \emptyset is the solid fat content and D is the 3d fractal dimension of the crystal network (Bremer et al. 1989). τ is tortuosity of the fat network; the tortuosity describes the degree of how much diffusion will be retarded in a porous medium. The value of tortuosity was investigated based on the equation proposed by Cussler (1997) and the results are shown in Table 7:

$$\tau = \varepsilon \frac{D_0}{D_{eff}} \tag{3.6}$$

where D_0 is the diffusion coefficient in a bulk fluid, D_{eff} represents the effective diffusion coefficient, and ε is the porosity of the porous media fat. Most of the studies that discussed tortuosity (Crossley & Aguilera, 2001; Cussler, 1997) considered the void fraction ε in a fat network can be simplified as 1- SFC.

	$D_{eff \times 10^{13}} (m^2 s^{-1})$		$\tau \times D_0 \times 10^{-10}$		$B \times D_0^{-1} \times 10^{22} (m^2)$	
	Control	Processed	Control	Processed	 Control	Processed
IVC	1.94	0.33	0.93	8.76	2.43	0.18
IND	6.10	0.50	0.55	4.69	7.28	0.27
BRZ	N.D.	0.80	N.D.	2.33	N.D.	1.47
VE N	1.28	0.21	2.48	9.39	0.82	0.08
ECU	2.59	0.31	0.83	8.98	3.07	0.18

Table 7. Effective diffusion coefficient $(D_{eff}(m^2s^{-1}))$, Tortuosity (τ) , and Permeability coefficient (B) of oil in different cocoa butters

For the control samples, the permeability coefficient was higher in the IND samples and lower in the VEN samples. The trend matched the observation of higher oil migration rates in the IND controls and lower oil migration rates in the VEN control samples. For the processed sample, the trend of the permeability coefficient was also identical with the trend of oil migration rates observed in Figure 22. Higher oil migration rates were reported in the BRZ sample and lower in the VEN sample.

The permeability coefficient of the processed samples decreased by 10 times compared to the control samples. High permeability coefficients of the control samples indicate that it is easier for oil to pass through the fat crystalline network of control samples compared to the processed ones. According to eq. 3.5, a high permeability coefficient is contributed by high SFC, large crystal sizes, low fractal dimensions, and small tortuosity factors (Maleky & Marangoni, 2011; Marty & Marangoni, 2009). In the processed samples, smaller and more homogeneous fat crystal distribution (Fig. 14) can pack more tightly to form a stronger network, which is reflected by the smaller value in the permeability coefficient. Narrower paths around the crystals retarded the migration of oil in this crystalline network, which explain the lower oil migration rate and smaller diffusion coefficient in the processed samples compared to the control samples.

Regardless of the BRZ sample, a higher value of permeability coefficient was observed within the IND sample and a lower value of permeability coefficient was observed in the VEN sample, for both control and processed samples. Even though processing significantly changed the structure of cocoa butter in the micro-scale, the effects of the chemical composition remained dominant. The permeability coefficient was positively influenced by the oil diffusivity which means that a higher oil migration rate is associated with a higher permeability. Therefore, slight differences in the chemical composition of cocoa butter significantly affect the oil diffusivity in a cocoa butter system. Although appropriate processing may assist in slowing down the oil migration rate of cocoa butter, the processing applied could not eliminate the inherent effect of chemical composition.

CHAPTER 4. CONCLUSION

This study investigated the effects of minor differences in the chemical composition of cocoa butter on oil diffusion kinetics. Cocoa butters produced in different geographic locations have similar major chemical composition and minor compounds. However, the contents of fatty acid, TAGs, and minor compounds from different regions were significantly varied. Interestingly, small differences in the fatty acids, TAGs, and minor compounds can result in significant difference in oil migration rate among the cocoa butter samples of different origins. Lower percentage of saturated fatty acids in cocoa butter resulted in low SFC. A lower SFC is associated with higher oil diffusivity in fat crystalline networks. Slight differences in chemical composition and minor compounds in cocoa butter influence nucleation and crystal growth, which influence permeability in fat networks. Moreover, processing significantly retarded the diffusion of oil in cocoa butter systems by providing a strong network and narrow, tortuous path. However, similar trend in oil migration rate were observed in both control and processed samples from different origins, indicating that dramatic changes in processing could not overcome the effect of minor variations in their chemical compositions. This research is significantly useful because the effects of chemical composition and crystallization conditions in relation to the oil diffusivity behaviors of cocoa butter from different origins were revealed. It provides useful knowledge to the chocolate industry in regards to prioritizing better

selection of raw materials over processing for manufacturing multi-component chocolate products. For future studies, the effects of small changes in chemical composition and minor compounds on cocoa butter nano-structure should be studied to further understand the mechanism of oil migration in cocoa butter system.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Acevedo, N. C., Block, J. M., & Marangoni, A. G. (2012). Critical laminar sheartemperature effects on the nano- and mesoscale structure of a model fat and its relationship to oil binding and rheological properties. *Faraday Discussions*, *158*, 171–194. http://doi.org/10.1039/c2fd20008b
- Ali, A., Selamat, J., Che Man, Y. ., & Suria, A. . (2001). Effect of storage temperature on texture, polymorphic structure, bloom formation and sensory attributes of filled dark chocolate. *Food Chemistry*, 72(4), 491–497. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-8146(00)00271-5
- Ali, A., Selamat, J., Man, Y. B., & Suria, A. M. (2001). Characterization and fat migration of palm kernel stearin as affected by addition of desiccated coconut used as base filling centre in dark chocolate. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 52, 251–261.
- Altan, A., Lavenson, D. M., Mccarthy, M. J., & Mccarthy, K. L. (2011). Oil migration in chocolate and almond product confectionery systems. *Journal of Food Science*, *76*(6), 1–6. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02233.x
- Arruda, D. H., & Dimick, P. S. (1991). Phospholipid composition of lipid seed crystal isolates from ivory coast cocoa butter. *Journal of American Oil Chemists' Society*, 68(June), 385–390. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02663754
- Beckett, S. (2000). *The Science of Chocolate* (Vol. 2). Royal Society of Chemistry. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?id=miv82VGPL9cC&pgis=1
- Bessler, T. R., & Orthoefer, F. T. (1983). Providing lubricity in food fat systems. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, *60*(10), 1765–1768.

- Birkett, J., & S, A. D. A. (2003). Fat-based centres and fillings. In *Science and technology of enrobed and filled chocolate, confectionery and bakery products.*
- Bouzidi, L., & Narine, S. S. (2012). Phase behavior of saturated triacylglycerides influence of symmetry and chain lenght mismatch . *Cocoa Butter and Related Compounds*, 73–101.
- Bremer, L. G. B., van Vliet, T., & Walstra, P. (1989). Theoretical and experimental study of the fractal nature of the structure of casein gels. *Journal of the Chemical Society, Faraday Transactions 1: Physical Chemistry in Condensed Phases*, 85(10), 3359. http://doi.org/10.1039/f19898503359
- Chaiseri, S., & Dimick, P. S. (1989). Lipid and hardness characteristics of cocoa butters from different geographic regions. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, *66*(12), 1771–1776. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02660745
- Chaiseri, S., & Dimick, P. S. (1995). Dynamic crystallization of cocoa butter .2. Morphological, thermal, and chemical characteristics during crystal growth. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, 72(12), 1497–1504. http://doi.org/10.1007/bf02577843
- Chantrell, R., Popplewell, J., & Charles, S. (1978). Measurements of particle size distribution parameters in ferrofluids. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics*, *14*(5), 975–977. http://doi.org/10.1109/TMAG.1978.1059918
- Chinachoti, P. (1997). Water migration and food storage stability. In *Food Storage Stability* (p. 560). CRC Press. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=3oQbpjMx6yIC&pgis=1
- Choi, Y. J., McCarthy, K. L., & McCarthy, M. J. (2005). Oil Migration in a Chocolate Confectionery System Evaluated by Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Journal of Food Science*, 5(5), e312–e317. http://doi.org/10.1006/fstl.1997.0329

Christie, W. W., Singleton, J. A., Pattee, H. E., Chaiseri, S., & Dimick, P. S. (1982).

A simple procedure for rapid transmethylation of glycerolipids and cholesteryl esters. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 23(11), 1072–1075.

- Clercq, N. De, Depypere, F., Delbaere, C., Nopens, I., Bernaert, H., & Dewettinck, K. (2014). Influence of cocoa butter diacylglycerols on migration induced fat bloom in filled chocolates. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, *116*(10), 1388–1399. http://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.201300476
- Crank, J. (1957). The mathematics of diffusion. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Crank, J. (1975). *The mathematics of diffusion. BRUNEL UNIVERSITYUXBRIDGE*. http://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4549(77)90072-X
- Crossley, J. I., & Aguilera, J. M. (2001). Modeling the Effect of Microstructure on, 24, 161–177.
- Cussler, E. (1997). *Diffusion : mass transfer in fluid systems*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Cussler, E. L. (2009). *Diffusion: Mass Transfer in Fluid Systems*. Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=dq6LdJyN8ScC&pgis=1
- Dahlenborg, H., Millqvist-Fureby, A., & Bergenståhl, B. (2015). Effect of particle size in chocolate shell on oil migration and fat bloom development. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *146*, 172–181. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2014.09.008
- DEMAN, J. M., & BEERS, A. M. (1987). FAT CRYSTAL NETWORKS: STRUCTURE AND RHEOLOGICAL PROPERTIES. *Journal of Texture Studies*, *18*(4), 303–318. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-4603.1987.tb00908.x
- Depypere, F., De Clercq, N., Segers, M., Lewille, B., & Dewettinck, K. (2009). Triacylglycerol migration and bloom in filled chocolates: Effects of lowtemperature storage. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, 111(3), 280–289. http://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.200800179

- Dhonsi, D., & Stapley, A. G. F. (2006). The effect of shear rate, temperature, sugar and emulsifier on the tempering of cocoa butter. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 77, 936–942. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2005.08.022
- Dibildox-Alvarado, E., Rodrigues, J. N., Gioielli, L. A., Toro-Vazquez, J. F., & Marangoni, A. G. (2004). Effects of crystalline microstructure on oil migration in a semisolid fat matrix. *Crystal Growth and Design*, 4(4), 731–736. http://doi.org/10.1021/cg049933n
- Dimick, T. R. an. P. S. (1989). Lipid Composition of High-Melting Seed Crystals Formed During Cocoa Butter Solidification. *JAOCS*, *66*(10), 1494–1498.
- Folayan, J. A. (2010). Nigerian Cocoa and Cocoa by-products: quality parameters, Specification and the roles of Stakeholders in Quality Maintenance. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 9(9), 915–919.
- Foubert.I, Vanrolleghem P.A., T. O. an. D. K. (2004). Influence of Chemical Composition on the Isothermal Cocoa Butter Crystallization. *Food Engineering* and Physical Properties, 69(9), 478–487.
- Galdámez, J. R., Szlachetka, K., Duda, J. L., & Ziegler, G. R. (2009). Oil migration in chocolate: A case of non-Fickian diffusion. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 92(3), 261–268. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2008.11.003
- Ghosh, V., Ziegler, G. R., & Anantheswaran, R. C. (2002). Fat, moisture, and ethanol migration through chocolates and confectionary coatings. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 42(6), 583–626. http://doi.org/10.1080/20024091054265
- Guiheneuf, T. M., Couzens, P. J., Wille, H., Hall, L. D., & Way, R. (1997). Visualisation of Liquid Triac y lgl y cerol Migration in Chocolate b y Magnetic Resonance Imaging, 00.
- Guiheneuf, T. M., Couzens, P. J., Wille, H., Hall, L. D., & Way, R. (1997).
 Visualisation of Liquid Triacylglycerol Migration in Chocolate by Magnetic Resonance Imaging. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 76, 265–273. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0010(199703)73:3<265::AID-

- Gunstone FD, H. J. (2007). Occurrence and characterization of oils and fats. In *The Lipid Handbook* (pp. 37–141). CRC Press. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=INZa6WmqDA8C&pgis=1
- Hachiya, I., Koyano, T., & Sato, K. (1989). Seeding effects on solidification behavior of cocoa butter and dark chocolate. I. Kinetics of solidification. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 66(12), 1757–1762. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02660743
- Hartel, R. W. (1999). Chocolate : Fat Bloom The Influence of Structural Elements, (May), 1999.
- Heertje, I. (1993). Structure and Function of Food Products: A Review. *Food Structure*. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.usu.edu/foodmicrostructure/vol12/iss3/7
- ICCO. (2015). Production of cocoa beans. http://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- James, B. J., & Smith, B. G. (2009). Surface structure and composition of fresh and bloomed chocolate analysed using X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy, cryoscanning electron microscopy and environmental scanning electron microscopy. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 42(5), 929–937. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2008.12.003
- Jenkinson, M., Bannister, P., Brady, M., & Smith, S. (2002). Improved Optimization for the Robust and Accurate Linear Registration and Motion Correction of Brain Images. *NeuroImage*, 17(2), 825–841. http://doi.org/10.1006/nimg.2002.1132
- Jenkinson, M., & Smith, S. (2001). A global optimisation method for robust affine registration of brain images. *Medical Image Analysis*, 5(2), 143–156. http://doi.org/10.1016/S1361-8415(01)00036-6

Jinap, S., Ali, A. A., Man, Y. B., & Suria, A. M. (2000). Use of palm mid-fraction in

dark chocolate as base filling centre at different storage temperatures. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, *51*, 489–499. http://doi.org/10.1080/09637480050208107

- Khan, R. S., & Rousseau, D. (2006). Hazelnut oil migration in dark chocolate: Kinetic, thermodynamic and structural considerations. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, *108*, 434–443. http://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.200501194
- Kinta, Y., & Hartel, R. W. (2010). Bloom formation on poorly-tempered chocolate and effects of seed addition. JAOCS, Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 87(1), 19–27. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11746-009-1473-5
- Kinta, Y., & Hatta, T. (2012). Morphology of fat bloom in chocolate. *Cocoa Butter* and Related Compounds, (195), 549. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11746-005-1129-7
- Larsson, K. (1966). Classification of glyceride crystal forms. *Acta Chemica Scandinavica*. http://doi.org/10.3891/acta.chem.scand.20-2255
- Lechter, A. (2012). Effect of Minor Components on Cocoa Butter Polymorphism and Kinetics of Crystallization. *Cocoa Butter and Related Compounds*, (2011), 213–232. http://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-9830791-2-5.50012-8
- Lee, W. L., McCarthy, M. J., & McCarthy, K. L. (2010). Oil migration in 2component confectionery systems. *Journal of Food Science*, 75(1), 83–90. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2009.01454.x
- Lehrian, D. W., & Keeney, P. G. (1980). Changes in lipid components of seeds during growth and ripening of cacao fruit. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 57(2), 61–65. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02674361
- Lehrian, D. W., Keeney, P. G., & Butler, D. R. (1980). Triglyceride characteristics of cocoa butter from cacao fruit matured in a microclimate of elevated temperature1. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 57(2), 66–69. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02674362

Lipp, M., & Anklam, E. (1998). Review of cocoa butter and alternative fats for use in

chocolate—Part A. Compositional data. *Food Chemistry*, 62(1), 73–97. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-8146(97)00160-X

- Lohman, M. H., & Hartel, R. W. (1994). Effect of milk fat fractions on fat bloom in dark chocolate. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, *71*(3), 267–276. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02638052
- Lonchampt, P., & Hartel, R. W. (2004). Fat bloom in chocolate and compound coatings. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, *106*, 241–274. http://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.200400938
- Maleky, F. (2008). OIL MIGRATION THROUGH FATS-QUANTIFICATION AND ITS RELATIONSHIP TO STRUCTURE. In *Structure-Function Analysis of Edible Fats* (pp. 207–230).
- Maleky, F., Acevedo, N. C., & Marangoni, A. G. (2012). Cooling rate and dilution affect the nanostructure and microstructure differently in model fats. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, *114*(7), 748–759. http://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.201100314
- Maleky, F., & Marangoni, A. (2011). Nanoscale effects on oil migration through triacylglycerol polycrystalline colloidal networks. *Soft Matter*, 7(13), 6012. http://doi.org/10.1039/c1sm05154g
- Maleky, F., & Marangoni, A. G. (2008). Process development for continuous crystallization of fat under laminar shear. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 89(4), 399–407. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2008.05.019
- Maleky, F., Mccarthy, K. L., Mccarthy, M. J., & Marangoni, A. G. (2012). Effect of Cocoa Butter Structure on Oil Migration. *Journal of Food Science*, 77(3), 74–80. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02575.x
- Maleky, F., Smith, A. K., & Marangoni, A. (2011). Laminar shear effects on crystalline alignments and nanostructure of a triacylglycerol crystal network. *Crystal Growth and Design*, 11(6), 2335–2345. http://doi.org/10.1021/cg200014w

Marangoni, A. G. (2010). Structure-Function Analysis of Edible Fats.

Marangoni, A. G. (2012). Structure-Function Analysis of Edible Fats.

- Marangoni, A. G., Acevedo, N., Maleky, F., Co, E., Peyronel, F., Mazzanti, G., ... Pink, D. (2012). Structure and functionality of edible fats. *Soft Matter*, 8(5), 1275. http://doi.org/10.1039/c1sm06234d
- Marangoni, A. G., & Wesdorp, L. H. (2013). Crystallography and polymorphism. *Structure and Properties of Fat Crystal Networks*, 1–25. http://doi.org/doi:10.1201/b12883-2\r10.1201/b12883-2
- Marangoni, A., & Wesdorp, L. (2013). *Structure and Properties of Fat Crystal* (SECOND EDI). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Marty, S., Baker, K., Dibildox-Alvarado, E., Neves Rodrigues, J., & Marangoni, A. G. (2005). Monitoring and quantifying of oil migration in cocoa butter using a flatbed scanner and fluorescence light microscopy. *Food Research International*, 38(10), 1189–1197. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2005.04.008
- Marty, S., Baker, K. W., & Marangoni, A. G. (2009). Optimization of a scanner imaging technique to accurately study oil migration kinetics. *Food Research International*, 42(3), 368–373. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodres.2008.12.017
- Marty, S., & Marangoni, A. G. (2009). Effects of cocoa butter origin, tempering procedure, and structure on oil migration kinetics. *Crystal Growth and Design*, 9(10), 4415–4423. http://doi.org/10.1021/cg9004505
- Marty-terrade, S., & Marangoni, A. G. (2009). Impact of Cocoa Butter Origin on Crystal Behavior (pp. 245–274). http://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-9830791-2-5.50014-1
- Mazzanti, G., Li, M., Marangoni, A. G., & Idziak, S. H. J. (2011). Effects of shear rate variation on the nanostructure of crystallizing triglycerides. *Crystal Growth and Design*, *11*(10), 4544–4550. http://doi.org/10.1021/cg200786k

- McCarthy, K. L., & McCarthy, M. J. (2008). Oil Migration in Chocolate-Peanut Butter Paste Confectionery as a Function of Chocolate Formulation. *Journal of Food Science*, 73(6), E266–E273. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2008.00797.x
- McClements, D. J., & Demetriades, K. (1998). An integrated approach to the development of reduced-fat food emulsions. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, *38*(6), 511–36. http://doi.org/10.1080/10408699891274291
- Minifie, B. (2012). *Chocolate, Cocoa and Confectionery: Science and Technology*. Springer Netherlands. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?id=bPTioQEACAAJ&pgis=1
- Miquel, M. E., Carli, S., Couzens, P. J., Wille, H.-J., & Hall, L. D. (2001). Kinetics of the migration of lipids in composite chocolate measured by magnetic resonance imaging. *Food Research International*, 34(9), 773–781. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0963-9969(00)00162-9
- Miyasaki, E. K., Santos, C. A. dos, Vieira, L. R., Ming, C. C., Calligaris, G. A., Cardoso, L. P., & Gonçalves, L. A. G. (2015). Acceleration of polymorphic transition of cocoa butter and cocoa butter equivalent by addition of <scp>d</scp> -limonene. *European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology*, n/a–n/a. http://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.201400557
- Mohammad Ali, S. (2013). Fat Bloom and Polymorphism in Chocolate Prepared with Modified Tea Seed Oil. *Journal of Tea Science Research*, *3*(1), 1–6. http://doi.org/10.5376/jtsr.2013.03.0001
- Motwani, T., Hanselmann, W., & Anantheswaran, R. C. (2011). Diffusion, counterdiffusion and lipid phase changes occurring during oil migration in model confectionery systems. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 104(2), 186–195. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2010.11.032
- Narine, S. S., & Marangoni, A. G. (1999). Microscopic and rheological studies of fat crystal networks. *Journal of Crystal Growth*, 198-199(pt 2), 1315–1319. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-0248(98)01016-1

- Nieburg, O. (2014). Chocolate consumption by country 2014. Retrieved February 8, 2016, from http://www.confectionerynews.com/Markets/Chocolate-consumption-by-country-2014
- Oh, J. H., & Swanson, B. G. (2006). Polymorphic transitions of cocoa butter affected by high hydrostatic pressure and sucrose polyesters. JAOCS, Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 83(12), 1007–1014. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11746-006-5155-2
- Paluri, S., Shavezipur, M., Heldman, D. R., & Maleky, F. (2015). Analysis of moisture diffusion mechanism in structured lipids using magnetic resonance imaging. *RSC Adv.*, 5(94), 76904–76911. http://doi.org/10.1039/C5RA13882E
- Peppas, N. a., & Brannon-Peppas, L. (1994). Water diffusion and sorption in amorphous macromolecular systems and foods. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 22(1-4), 189–210. http://doi.org/10.1016/0260-8774(94)90030-2
- Peters, C. a. (2001). Statistics for Analysis of Experimental Data Princeton University Statistics for Analysis of Experimental Data. *Environmental Engineering Processes Laboratory Manual*, 1–25.
- Ribeiro, a. P. B., Claro da Silva, R., Gioielli, L. a., De Almeida Gonçalves, M. I., Grimaldi, R., Gonçalves, L. a. G., & Guenter Kieckbusch, T. (2012). Physicochemical properties of Brazilian cocoa butter and industrial blends. Part I Chemical composition, solid fat content and consistency. *Grasas Y Aceites*, 63(1), 79–88. http://doi.org/10.3989/gya.069011
- Richter, K., & Kg, S. (2009). Tempering process technology. *Albot, Geoff. (2009). Science and Technology of Enrobed and Filled Chocolate, Confectionery and Bakery Products.*, 344–361. http://doi.org/10.1533/9781845696436.3.344
- Rumsey, T. R., & McCarthy, K. L. (2012). Modeling oil migration in two-layer chocolate-almond confectionery products. *Journal of Food Engineering*, *111*(1), 149–155. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2012.01.006
- Sasaki, M., Ueno, S., & Sato, K. (2012). Polymorphism and Mixing Phase Behavior of Major Triacylglycerols of Cocoa Butter. *Cocoa Butter and Related*

Compounds, 151-172. http://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-9830791-2-5.50009-8

- Sato, K. (2001). Crystallization behaviour of fats and lipids a review. *Chemical Engineering Science*, *56*(7), 2255–2265. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0009-2509(00)00458-9
- Savage, C., & Dimick, P. (1995). Influence of phospholipids during crystallization of hard and soft cocoa butters. *The Manufacturing Confectioner*. Retrieved from https://scholar.google.com/scholar?q=C.+M.+Savage%2C+P.+S.+Dimick.+The +Manufacturing+Confectioner.+75%285%29%2C+127-132+%281995%29.&btnG=&hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C36#0
- Schlichter Aronhime, J., Sarig, S., & Garti, N. (1988). Reconsideration of polymorphic transformations in cocoa butter using the DSC. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 65, 1140–1143. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02660570
- Schlumberger. (2015). Defining Permeability. Retrieved March 31, 2016, from http://www.slb.com/news/inside_news/2015/2015_0130_defining_permeability. aspx
- Shi, X., & Maleky, F. (2015). Effects of external shear forces on crystallisation kinetics of model fat blends. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 50(10), 2255–2263. http://doi.org/10.1111/ijfs.12878
- ShuklA V.K.S. (2006). Cocoa Butter, Cocoa Butter Equivalents, and Cocoa Butter Substitutes. In *Handbook of Functional Lipids* (pp. 279–307). CRC Press. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=BIjPC4xwBKsC&pgis=1
- Sonwai, S., & Mackley, M. R. (2006). The effect of shear on the crystallization of cocoa butter. JAOCS, Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 83(7), 583–596. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11746-006-1243-6
- Stapley, A. G. F., Tewkesbury, H., & Fryer, P. J. (1999). The effects of shear and temperature history on the crystallization of chocolate. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, 76(6), 677–685. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11746-999-0159-3

- Subramaniam, P. J. (2009). Shelf-life prediction and testing. In *Science and Technology of Enrobed and Filled Chocolate, Confectionery and Bakery Products* (pp. 233–254). http://doi.org/10.1533/9781845696436.2.233
- Svanberg, L., Ahrné, L., Lorén, N., & Windhab, E. (2011). Effect of sugar, cocoa particles and lecithin on cocoa butter crystallisation in seeded and non-seeded chocolate model systems. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 104(1), 70–80. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2010.09.023
- Svanberg, L., Ahrné, L., Lorén, N., & Windhab, E. (2013). Impact of precrystallization process on structure and product properties in dark chocolate. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 114(1), 90–98. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2012.06.016
- Talbot, G. (2003). Fats for Confectionery Coating and Fillings. *Science and Technology of Enrobed and Filled Chocolate, Confectionery*, 54–89.
- Talbot, G. (2009). Compound coatings. *Science and Technology of Enrobed and Filled Chocolate, Confectionery and Bakery Products*, 80–100. http://doi.org/10.1533/9781845696436.1.163
- Talbot, G. (2012a). Chocolate and Cocoa Butter Structure and Composition. *Cocoa Butter and Related Compounds*, 1–33. http://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-9830791-2-5.50004-9
- Talbot, G. (2012b). Chocolate and Cocoa Butter—Structure and Composition. In *Cocoa Butter and Related Compounds* (pp. 12–13).
- Talbot, G., & Consultant, T. F. (2003). Introduction. In *Science and technology of enrobed and filled chocolate, confectionery and bakery products* (pp. 1–7).
- Timms, R. E. (2012). *Confectionery Fats Handbook: Properties, Production and Application*. UK: Oily Press. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?id=84BtQgAACAAJ&pgis=1

Timms, R., & Stewart, I. (1999). Cocoa butter, a unique vegetable fat. Lipid

Technology Newsletter. Retrieved from https://scholar.google.com/scholar?q=Cocoa+butter%2C+a+unique+vegetable+f at&btnG=&hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C36#0

- Van den Tempel, M. (1961). Mechanical properties of plastic-disperse systems at very small deformations. *Journal of Colloid Science*, *16*(3), 284–296. http://doi.org/10.1016/0095-8522(61)90005-8
- Vernier, F. C. (1997). Influence of emulsifiers on the rheology of chocolate and suspensions of cocoa or sugar particles in oil. The University of Reading. Retrieved from http://ethos.bl.uk/OrderDetails.do?uin=uk.bl.ethos.503471
- Wells, M. (2009). Controlling the rheology of chocolate and fillings. *Science and Technology of Enrobed and Filled Chocolate, Confectionery and Bakery Products*, 255–284. http://doi.org/10.1533/9781845696436.1.163
- Whitaker, S. (1986). Flow in porous media I: A theoretical derivation of Darcy's law. *Transport in Porous Media*, 1(1), 3–25. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF01036523
- Wille, R. L., & Lutton, E. S. (1966a). Polymorphism of cocoa butter. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society*, 43(8), 491–496. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02641273
- Wille, R. L., & Lutton, E. S. (1966b). Polymorphism of cocoa butter. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 43(8), 491–496. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02641273
- Wright, D. C., Park, W. D., Leopold, N. R., Hasegawa, P. M., Janick, J., & Lafayette, W. (1982). Acumulation of lipids, proteins, alkaloids and anthocyanins during Embryo Development in vivo of Theobroma cacao L. *Jaocs*, 59(11), 475–479.
- Yates, P. (2009). Formulation of chocolate for industrial applications. *Science and Technology of Enrobed and Filled Chocolate, Confectionery and Bakery Products*, 37–50. http://doi.org/10.1533/9781845696436.1.29

Ziegleder, G., & Moser, C. (1996). Kinetik der Fettmigration in

Schokoladenprodukten Teil II : EinfluB von Lagertemperatur , Diffusions- koeff izient , Festfettgehalt, *98*(7), 253–256.

- Ziegleder, G., & Schwingshandl, I. (1998). Kinetik der Fettmigration in Schokoladenprodukten. Teil III: Fettreif. *Fett*, *100*(9), 411–415. Retrieved from http://cat.inist.fr/?aModele=afficheN&cpsidt=2426463
- Ziegler, G. (2009). Product design Product design and shelf-life issues : oil migration and fat bloom. In *Science and Technology of Enrobed and Filled Chocolate, Confectionery and Bakery Products* (pp. 185–210).